

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

HASTINGS AND PRINCE EDWARD DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD AND

THE ELEMENTARY TEACHERS' FEDERATION OF ONTARIO

(ETFO)

SEPTEMBER 1, 1998 TO AUGUST 31, 2000



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1- PURPOSE , . , . , , , ,	8
ARTICLE 2 - SCOPE AND RECOGNITION	. 8
ARTICLE 3 - UNION DUES AND ASSESSMENTS, , , , , , ,,	8
ARTICLE 4 - RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES . , , , , , ,	. 8 8 8 9 9 9
ARTICLE 5 - New POSITIONS of RESPONSIBILITY and VACANCIES Creation of New Position of Responsibility . ,	10 11 11
ARTICLE 6 - TRANSFERS	12
ARTICLE 7 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD	12
ARTICLE 8 - PERSONNEL & MEDICAL FILES Personnel Files Documents Respecting Performance or Conduct Signature Not Approval Disputing Accuracy and Completeness Material To Be Removed Medical Information Access To Board Minutes by Union and Teachers Data for Negotiations Accuracy May Be Disputed Board, Policies, Practices and Guidelines	12 13 13 14 14 14 15
ARTICLE 9 - COPIES OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	15
Credits and Contributions Method of Payment - Twice -a- month During School Year 1998 - 1999 Method of Payment - BI-Weekly Payroll Procedures Statement of Salary and Deduction College of Teachers' Deduction Salary grids 17- Determination of Salaries	16 16 16 -19
Category Classification Level · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	20 2 ₀

	Allowances for Training and Related Experience ,	20
	QECO - Category Classification · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	20 21
	Responsibility Allowances for ETFO Teachers Temporary Principal/Temporary Vice-Principal Teacher-In-Charge ETFO Site Administrator	21 21 22
	System and School Group Co-ordinators; System Special Education Resource Teachers:2 Union Representative	2
	Additional Degree Allowance Definitions of Additional Degrees Evaluation Additional Degree not used for QECO Certification Additional Degrees Not Recognized Allowances All Teachers Eligible for Additional Degree Allowances	23 23 23 23 23
	Payroll Deductions · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	24
ARTIC	Expense Allowances Professional Development Expenses Travel Expenses. Retraining and Professional Upgrading Eligibility Allocation	24 24 24 24 24 25
	Elementary Staff Development · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
ARTIC	CLE 12 -WORKING CONDITIONS	26
	School Year School Timetables/Plans. Extra-Curricular Activities Instructional Time Preparation Time	2 6 . 26

Basic Teaching Staff	30 . 3 ₀
JK/SK Centrally Assigned Infusion	30
School Needs/Prep Time	
School Special Education Resource · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	30
School Library Resource Teacher · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	30
System's Co-ordinators	30 30
Instrumental Music Infusion	30
Breakage Staff	30
Elementary Special Education Teachers · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Staffing Adjustments	31
Elementary Staffing Form · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	32
Lioniditary diaming Form	
ARTICLE 14 - THE STAFF RECORDS LIST	33
Contents · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	33
Updates to the Staff Records List	33
ARTICLE 15 - RETURNING FROM LEAVES OF ABSENCE AND SUPPORT STAFF	.3 3
POSITION(S)	၁ ၁
ARTICLE 16 JOINT STAFFING COMMITTEE	34
Composition of the Joint Staffing Committee	
Responsibilities of the Joint Staffing Committee	34
Procedures of the Joint Staffing Committee	34
The second of th	
ARTICLE 17 DETERMINING STAFFING PROCEDURES, NEEDS AND VACANCIES	34
ARTICLE 18 MOBILITY	35
Mobility Applications	35
Factors Related to Mobility)-3 5
ARTICLE 19. SCHOOL STAFFING COMMITTEES	36
ARTICLE 19. SCHOOL STAFFING COMMITTEES	37
Committoe Structure	
Committee Structure	37
Committee Structure	37 38
Committee Structure	38
Committee Structure	38
Committee Structure	38 . 38
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee	38 38 39
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE ARTICLE 21- MEDICAL PROCEDURES Not Responsible For Diagnosis or Medication	38 . 38 . 39 39
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE ARTICLE 21- MEDICAL PROCEDURES Not Responsible For Diagnosis or Medication	38 . 38 . 39 39
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE ARTICLE 21 - MEDICAL PROCEDURES	38 . 38 . 39 39
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE ARTICLE 21- MEDICAL PROCEDURES Not Responsible For Diagnosis or Medication	38 . 38 39 39 39
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE ARTICLE 21 - MEDICAL PROCEDURES Not Responsible For Diagnosis or Medication Trained Personnel to be Provided	38 39 39 39 39
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE ARTICLE 21 - MEDICAL PROCEDURES Not Responsible For Diagnosis or Medication Trained Personnel to be Provided ARTICLE 22 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY ARTICLE 23 - HARASSMENT	38 39 39 39 39 . 39
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE ARTICLE 21- MEDICAL PROCEDURES Not Responsible For Diagnosis or Medication Trained Personnel to be Provided ARTICLE 22- OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY ARTICLE 23- HARASSMENT ARTICLE 24- BENEFIT PLANS	38 39 39 39 39 . 39 . 40
Committee Structure The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE ARTICLE 21 - MEDICAL PROCEDURES Not Responsible For Diagnosis or Medication Trained Personnel to be Provided ARTICLE 22 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY ARTICLE 23 - HARASSMENT	38 39 39 39 39 . 39 . 40

ARTICLE 27 DENTAL PLAN , , , , , ,	41
ARTICLE 28 LONG TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE PLAN	42
Participation During Lay Off	4 2 42
Part Time Leave of Absence	
Suitable Alternative Employment	43
Not Cause For Termination	43
Not dage for remination	
ARTICLE 29 - SICK LEAVE	43
Sick Leave Account	
Transfer of Credits	
Sick Leave Credit Accumulation	43
Pro-rated for Part-Time	
Leaves of Absence	
Account Debited	
Sick Leave Credit Accumulation	
Special Needs	
ARTICLE 30 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE	44
Supply Teaching While on Leave	44
Leaves of Absence Without Pay	44
Leave for Public Office	44
Leave for upgrading or retraining	
ARTICLE 31 - SHORT TERM LEAVE PLAN	45
Short Term Leaves	
Short Term Leave Conditions	
ARTICLE 32- ABSENCE CODES	45
Absence with pay items deductible from Sick Leave Credit Account. (Code 1) · · ·	45
Absence with pay - items not deductible from Sick Leave Credit (Code 2)	46
Absence without Pay - items not deductible from Sick Leave Credits (Code 3)	47
ARTICLE 33 - PREGNANCY AND PARENTAL/ADOPTION LEAVE	47
Definitions	47
Pregnancy Leave	47
Parental Leave	4 7
General Provisions for Pregnancy and Parental Leave	47
Supplemental Employment Insurance Benefit Plan	49
Return to Employment	50
Return to Position	
Extended Leave - Board Request	50
•	
ARTICLE 34 - SABBATICAL LEAVE , , , , , ,	50-52
ARTICLE 35 - DEFERRED SALARY LEAVE PLAN (X Over Y)	52
Conditions of Leave ,	52-53
ARTICLE 36 - SUBSIDIZED EDUCATIONAL LEAVE PLAN ,,,,	53-54
ARTICLE 37 - LINION RELEASE TIME/LEAVE	54

ARTICLE 38 - SICK LEAVE CREDIT PAYMENT	54-55
ARTICLE 39 - VOLUNTARY EARLY LEAVING PROGRAM · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	55
ARTICLE 40 - SENIORITY; TEACHERS AVAILABLE for TRANSFER; SURPLUS; REC. Seniority Determinant Accuracy of Draft List Verification by Staff Ties Tie-Breaking of Seniority Years of Experience Determining teacher(s) available for transfer (TAT) from a school Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) Criteria at the School Level Procedures for Determining Teachers who are Surplus to System (STS) Elementary Teacher Placement Process - Offers and Placements to TAT & STS Teachers Interpanel Placement of Elementary Teachers in Secondary Vacancies Interpanel Placement of Secondary Teachers in Elementary Vacancies Reassessment of Interpanel Placements Teachers Surplus to the System and Termination Letters Recall Process and Procedures Seniority Review Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board Information Form	55-57 57 57 58 59 60 61-63 .6 1 .63-64 .65-68 .65-68
ARTICLE 41 - OCTOBER ENROLMENT IMBALANCES	70
ARTICLE 42 - PART-TIME ASSIGNMENTS Definition of Teacher on Part-Time Assignment Part-Time Leave Salary and Allowances Experience Credit Seniority Preparation Time Scheduling of Assignments Requests for Increase in Assignment	70 71 71 71
ARTICLE 43 - CHANGES IN ORGANIZATION AND METHODS	72 . 72
Attendance at one varies meanings	. 72 . 72 7 3 . 73 . 73 . 73 . 73 7 4 7 4
ARTICLE 45– STRIKE OR LOCKOUT	74

Strike By Other Board Employees , , , , ,
ARTICLE 46 - UNION REPRESENTATIVES 74 Union Officers 75 Communications 75 Union Notices 75 Meetings 75 Access to Members 75
ARTICLE 47 - CORRESPONDENCE · · · · · 75
ARTICLE 48 - ACT/REGULATION/FISCAL CHANGES
ARTICLE 49 - EMPLOYMENT INSURANCE,,
ARTICLE 50 - INCOME TAX VERIFICATION OF PERSONAL EXPENDITURES - T.D. 2200 76
ARTICLE 51 - TECHNOLOGICAL ENHANCEMENT PROGRAM for New Teachers
ARTICLE 52 - DURATION AND RENEWAL , ,
ARTICLE 53 - SIGNATURES TO THE AGREEMENT
APPENDIX I - VELP
LETTERS OF UNDERSTANDING #1, #2 and #3 · · · · · 84-86

ARTICLE 1- PURPOSE

1.0 It is the purpose and intent of the Parties to set forth reasonable and fair terms and conditions of employment and other related provisions and to provide for the equitable settlement of all matters in dispute which may arise between the Parties.

ARTICLE 2 - SCOPE AND RECOGNITION

- 2.01 The employer being the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board (hereinafter referred to as "the Board") recognizes the Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (hereinafter referred to as "the Union") as the bargaining agent for all teachers employed by the Board in its elementary panel save and except occasional teachers.
- 2.02 The Union will inform the Board from time to time of who is authorized to act on behalf of the Union.

<u>ARTICLE 3 - UNION DUES AND ASSESSMENTS</u>

- 3.01 Effective September 1, 1998, the Board shall deduct, for every pay period and for each teacher, union dues and assessments, Dues and assessments deducted in accordance with this Article shall be forwarded to the Union on the 15th day of the month following the pay period. The Union shall inform the Board, from time to time, of the amount of such dues and assessments.
- 3.02 The payment shall be accompanied by a dues submission list showing the names, addresses, work sites, wages earned and dues and assessments deducted.

ARTICLE 4 - RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Reasonable Exercise of Rights

4.01 The Board agrees that its rights and responsibilities shall be exercised in a manner that is reasonable, equitable, non-discriminatory and consistent with this Collective Agreement and the prevailing statutes.

Statutory Responsibilities

4.02 The Board agrees to abide by the Education Act, the Employment Standards Act, the Ontario Human Rights Code and any other prevailing statutes governing education and employment in Ontario, and all regulations thereunder.

No Penalty

4,03 The Board agrees not to penalize or discriminate against any teacher for participating in the activities of the Union, including exercising any rights under this Collective Agreement or the prevailing statutes of Ontario.

No Discrimination

4.04 The Board and the teachers agree that there shall be equal treatment with respect to employment without discrimination or perpetuation of the effects of past discrimination, if any, because of race, ancestry, place of origin, teaching assignment, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, age, record of offenses, marital status, family status or disability or by reason of membership or activity in the Union.

Evaluations

4.05 Only supervisory officers, elementary principals and vice-principals shall evaluate a teacher's competence, No member of the Union shall be required or requested to evaluate a teacher's competence.

Evaluation Policy

- 4.06 The Board's policies/procedures shall be revised and updated in consultation with the Union. Teachers shall only be evaluated in accordance with these policies/procedures. Such policy/procedures shall include the following:
 - -all evaluations shall be in writing signed by the evaluator(s) with a copy to the teacher;
 - -the teacher shall be given at least one school day's prior notice of any scheduled classroom observation;
 - -the teacher may request that s/he be observed in other situations within the teacher's assignment;
 - -a meeting may be held to review and discuss the evaluation, prior to the final evaluation report;
 - -the evaluation report shall be given to the teacher within 15 days of the date of the evaluation:
 - -the teacher shall be given 48 hours within the regular school week to review, sign, and make written comments regarding the report;
 - -no documents based on hearsay evidence or unfounded parent complaints will be used in the evaluation process or added to a teacher's file.
 - -the Board and ETFO shall develop a process for the formulation of an evaluation policy.

Just Cause

- 4.07 a) No teacher shall be demoted, discharged, dismissed, disciplined in any way without just and sufficient cause. Such cause shall be provided to the teacher in writing, within 5 (five) calendar days from the time the teacher is informed of any such action.
 - b) Prior to the imposition of any of the actions listed in (a), there shall be a meeting held between the teacher and a Board representative to discuss the matter. The teacher shall have the right to have a representative of the Union present. Should the Board fail to hold such a meeting, any of the actions listed in (a) which the Board may have decided to impose shall be null and void.

Terminations

4.08 A teacher whose employment is to be terminated for any reason shall be given notice by the Director in writing together with written reasons therefore. Terminations shall be subject to Article 4.07 (Just Cause). No teacher shall be terminated for any reason save through the process outlined above.

This provision does not apply to lay-offs (see Transfer & Surplus clauses).

Board to Provide insurance

4.09 The Board shall provide insurance protection for teachers against risks arising in the course of their employment that may involve pecuniary loss or liability on the part of teachers covered by this Collective Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 - New POSITIONS of RESPONSIBILITY and VACANCIES

- 5.01 <u>Creation of New Position of Responsibility</u>
- 5.01.01 Any teacher appointed to a position of responsibility referred to in this Agreement shall be paid the appropriate allowance.
- 5.01.02 The Board may create or designate new positions of responsibility. It is agreed that where a new position of responsibility is to be filled by a teacher who comes within the scope of this agreement, the salary or allowance for the position will be negotiated.
- 5.01.03 The Board, upon creation of any position(s) not included in this agreement and before the hiring of any member to fill such position(s) shall notify, in writing, the President of the Union.

The Board shall post in every school a notice of every new position at least 10 (ten) school days before the position is to be filled and invite applications Those to be interviewed will be notified.

Concurrently a copy of such notice shall be sent to the Union and to the home and address of each teacher who is on leave (at teacher request) or who is entitled to recall under this Collective Agreement.

- 5.01.04 The Board and Union shall negotiate the salary and allowances, therefore, of any new position as referred to in 5.01.03. Such salary and allowances shall be retroactive to the date of appointment of the member.
- 5.01.05 When the salary and allowances for any new position of responsibility have been agreed to as in 5.01.02, this agreement shall be amended.

NEW VACANCIES - Definition

- 5.02 A "vacancy" under this Article means a teaching assignment covered by this Collective Agreement that is unoccupied because:
 - the incumbent has been transferred, promoted, or has resigned; or a)
 - a vacancy has occurred as defined by current legislation, or b)
 - enrolment increase has created a new teaching vacancy, or c) a leave of absence under the Bridging Program that has created a vacancy for part of a year or longer, or a full year or longer under any other program, or
 - the incumbent has died. d)

5.03 **Posting of Vacancies**

- The Board, in consultation with the Joint Staffing Committee, shall post all known vacancies a) to teachers covered by this Collective Agreement for September 1 openings.
- c) The Board, in consultation with the Joint Staffing Committee, shall fill mid-year vacancies according to the following criteria in progression;
 - Consideration of teachers on Recall List (see 40.12.11.10)
 - i) ii) Consideration of part-time to full-time increased teaching time requests,
 - Consideration of teacher transfers that are beneficial to the elementary iii) system,
 - iv) Consideration of posting of positions to qualified applicants,
 - External advertising. v)
- All postings shall include the title of the position, description of duties, requisite experience c) if any, qualifications, any applicable allowances, effective date and, if it is a temporary vacancy, the probable duration.

5.04 Internal and External Advertising

- INTERNAL ADVERTISING DURING T & S: In the event that a vacancy occurs prior 5.04.01 to the completion of the Transfer and Surplus (T&S) Process, and it is determined by the Joint Staffing Committee, that no teacher who remains on the Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) and Surplus to the System (STS) lists would or could qualify for an available position in a subject area requiring additional Ministry certification, the Board may proceed to advertise internally.
- PART TIME TEACHERS: Part time teachers who have indicated to the Human 5.04.02 Resources Department their desire to increase their contractual entitlement, will be considered by the Joint Staffing Committee, prior to external advertising. (See also 40.12.11.10)
- EXTERNAL ADVERTISING DURING T & S: If it is determined by the Joint Staffing 5.04.03 Committee, prior to the completion of the Transfer and Surplus (T&S) Process, that

the Board will be in an overall teacher hiring position once the Transfer and Surplus (T&S) process is completed, the Board may proceed to advertise externally any unassigned positions considered to be available.

5.04.04 <u>EXTERNAL HIRING:</u> External hiring for positions with the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board will normally be done only after all TAT, STS, consideration of increases in contractual entitlement and Interpanel Placements have been considered.

External advertising will occur only after internal advertising has not filled a vacancy except as authorized by the Joint Staffing Committee.

ADVANCED POOL HIRING (external): In the event that the Board anticipates the need to offer employment to applicants prior to the staffing procedures described in this Collective Agreement, the Board will advertise externally for an advanced pool of teachers following consultation with the Joint Staffing Committee. No teacher will lose his/her employment entitlement with the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board as the result of external hiring. Offers to advanced pool candidates will not interfere with the rights of any current members as described in the Collective Agreement. Teachers hired externally will be assigned to the Education Centre until such time as they are assigned to an elementary school by the Joint Staffing Committee.

ARTICLE 6 -TRANSFERS

- 6.01 TRANSFERS TO ALTERNATE LOCATION: Except by mutual consent, no teacher shall be transferred by the Board from one school to another which is located more than 40 (forty) kilometers from the original school unless it does not increase the driving distance from the teacher's home.
- 6.02 MID-YEARTRANSFERS: All teachers who are transferred, after the school year has started whether or not the transfer is by mutual consent, shall be entitled to be notified at least 5 (five) school days in advance of the transfer at least 2 (two) of which shall be preparation days without supervision or other duties for the purpose of preparing for the new assignment,
- 6.03 ELEMENTARY TEACHERS LOCATED IN SECONDARY SCHOOLS

 Elementary teachers will be transferred along with the Elementary students who are relocated in a Secondary School. Elementary teachers who are relocated in a Secondary School may exchange teaching responsibilities with Secondary teachers.

ARTICLE 7 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD

Rights

7.01 During the probationary period of up to one year for new teachers, a clear process for evaluation will be in place.

Evaluation

7.02 In the event that the teacher is to receive an adverse written report, the teacher shall be represented by the Union.

ARTICLE 8 - PERSONNEL & MEDICAL FILES, ACCESS TO INFORMATION

8.01 Personnel Files

8.01 .01 The only non-medical personnel file respecting a teacher shall be maintained by the Board and shall be available and open to the teacher for inspection in the presence of a designated Board representative at any reasonable time during the regular working hours.

8.01.02 A teacher shall be entitled upon request to copies, without cost, of any materials contained in her/his personnel file.

8.01.03 Where a teacher authorizes in writing access to her/his personnel file by another person acting on the teacher's behalf, the Board shall provide such access, as well as copies of materials contained therein, if also authorized and requested.

8.01.04 Teachers shall receive copies of any materials placed in their personnel files within 3 (three) calendar days of the material being filed.

Documents Respecting Performance or Conduct

8.01.05 Copies of any document respecting the performance or conduct of a teacher shall be given to the teacher within 3 (three) calendar days of the writing of such document and at least 3 (three) school days prior to the document

being filed.

Signature Not Approval

8.01.06 The signature of a teacher on any document respecting the performance or conduct of that teacher shall be deemed to be evidence only of the receipt thereof and shall not be construed as approval of, consent to, or agreement

with the contents.

8.01.07 A teacher shall have the right to place material in her/his personnel file.

Disputing Accuracy and Completeness

8.01.08 A teacher shall be entitled to correct inaccuracies or errors in documents contained in the personnel file or to append notices of corrections or inaccuracies to documents within the file which, in the teacher's opinion,

possess errors or inaccuracies.

8.01.09

If a teacher disputes the accuracy or completeness of information in the personnel file the Board shall, where possible, within 15 (fifteen) days from receipt of a written request by the teacher stating the alleged inaccuracy, either confirm or amend the information and shall notify the teacher in writing of its decision including reasons for that decision.

8.01.10

In the event the report is amended all copies of the original report shall be destroyed and replaced by the amended report.

Material To Be Removed

8.01.11

Disciplinary material shall be removed from a teacher's personnel file after 2 (two) years and returned to the teacher, provided there have been no other disciplinary documents added to the file during the two year period. Evaluations shall be removed from a teacher's file after 2 (two) years and returned to the teacher if the teacher so requests. No material removed from a teachers file shall be referred to or used against the teacher in any way. For further clarity, but not so as to limit the generality of the foregoing, it shall not be used against the teacher in order to demote, dismiss, discharge, or discipline the teacher in any way, nor shall it be used against the teacher in any arbitration or any other legal proceeding.

Medical Information

8.02 The Board shall keep any medical information in separate files accessible only to appropriate health care professionals and the teacher.

Access To Board Minutes by Union and Teachers

8.03 The Board shall provide to the Union copies of any public agendas, minutes and support documents at least two (2) days prior to all Board meetings and public Board committee meeting minutes.

The Board shall permit a teacher to inspect and make copies of minutes of all public meetings of the Board and public meetings of committees of the Board.

Data for Negotiations

- 8.04.01 The Union shall have access to or be furnished with a copy of any data relevant to the negotiation and administration of the Collective Agreement including but not limited to the following:
 - a) A statement of the current operating budget, including any school-by-school or Board-wide allocations for Teachers:

- b) A statement of the current operating expenditures;
- The number of Teachers participating in each benefit plan covered by this Agreement and the current premium cost of that participation;
- d) information on staffing, class size, and enrollment;
- e) Any documents received from government sources which relate to the funding and operation of the Board.

Accuracy May Be Disputed

8.04.02

Nothing in this Article shall serve to modify or to deny the right of the Union to dispute the accuracy of any of the said records, data or information issued by or disclosed to be in the possession of the Board under Article 8.04 above.

Board, Policies, Practices and Guidelines

8.05 Copies of all Board policies, practices and guidelines are to be forwarded to the local ETFO president.

When revisions are submitted to the Board or school administration for information or approval, a copy will be forwarded to the local ETFO.

ARTICLE 9 - COPIES OF THE Collective Agreement

9.0 Each member of the bargaining unit shall be provided with a copy of this Collective Agreement, at Board expense, within 30 (thirty) days of the signing of the agreement. Each applicant, when accepted for employment, shall be provided with a copy of this Collective Agreement at Board expense.

ARTICLE 10 - SALARY AND ALLOWANCES

Credits and Contributions

10.01 On or before October 1, and within one month of any negotiated change in salary or change in qualification, the Board shall provide to each teacher a notice setting forth the following:

Credit for teaching experience
Category classification
Salary and allowances
Benefit Coverages
Accumulated Sick Leave Credits
Employee Initiated Optional Deductions (RSP, CSB, etc.)

10.02 Method of Payment - TWICE A MONTH During School Year 1998 - 1999

10.02.01 For 1998-1999, full-time Teachers and part-time Teachers, on a pro-rated basis, will be paid all salaries owing or accruing due, during time worked.

One instalment of 8% will be paid on the first day in September and nineteen (19) instalments of 4% each paid on or before the fifteenth (15th) of each calendar month and on the last teaching day of each month starting September 15 to June 15 inclusive, except on the last business day of December, as well as 16% on the last teaching Friday in June.

For 1998-1999, part-time Teachers whose service commences at the beginning of Semester 2 shall be paid all salaries owing or due, during time worked. On the first day of Semester 2, one instalment of 4% and nine (9) instalments of 4% each will be paid on or before the fifteen (15th) day of each calendar month and on the last day of each calendar month to June 15th inclusive, as well as 10% on the last teaching Friday in June.

Method of Payment - BI-WEEKLY PAYROLL PROCEDURES

- Thereafter for 1999-2000, Teachers and part-time Teachers on a pro-rated basis, will be paid all salaries owing or accruing due. Twenty-six equal installments will be paid every second Friday commencing with the last Friday in August. Payment shall be made on the Thursday where Friday is a holiday.
- 10.02.04 Beginning in 2000, part-time Teachers whose service commences at the beginning of Semester 2 shall be paid all salaries owing or due, commencing with the last Friday which is a pay date in semester one.
- 10.02.05 Teachers who leave the Board's employ will be paid any salary owing up to the last day worked.
- 10.02.06 Where a Teacher works only a part of the school year, the Teacher shall be paid 1/1 94 times the number of days worked.

Statement of Salary and Deduction

10.03 On the dates stipulated above, the Board will pay the teacher by direct deposit. The teacher will be provided with a statement of current pay, year-to-date pay and deductions.

College of Teachers' Deduction

10.04 The Board will deduct College of Teachers' fees from all eligible teaching staff as determined by the College of Teachers.

10.05 SALARY GRIDS

10.05.01 All Union members will be placed appropriately on the following grid effective 1998 September 01.

Yrs of Exp.	CAT. A	CAT. AI LEVEL 4	CAT. A2 Level 5	CAT. A3 Level 6	CAT. A4 LEVEL 7
0	29,230	30,471	32,102	34,239	35,240
1	30,614	31,618	33,232	36,604	37,838
2	32,309	33,814	34,589	38,969	40,431
3	34,140	35,663	36,455	41,333	43,024
4	35,597	37,849	38,265	43,699	45,620
5	37,045	39,803	40,227	46,064	48,213
6	38,661	41,982	42,419	48,428	50,808
7	40,342	43,698	44,840	50,793	53,403
8	42,134	46,365	47,293	53,155	55,997
9	43,975	48,494	49,182	55,521	58,591
10	45,482	50,811	51,461	57,886	61,185
11	47,649	52,634	53,753	60,250	63,780
Pen Ult. (PEd) 12	49,461		56,182	62,614	66,380
Ult.	52.634				

10.05.02 All Union members will be placed appropriately on the following grid effective 1999 September 01.

Yrs of Exp.	CAT. A	CAT. A1 LEVEL 4	CAT. A2 Level 5	CAT. A3 Level 6	CAT. A4 LEVEL 7
0	29,230	30,471	33,102	36,239	39,240
1	30,614	31,618	34,232	37,937	40,838
2	32,309	33,814	35,589	39,635	41,931
3	34,140	35,663	36,455	41,333	43,024
4	35,597	37,849	38,265	43,699	45,620
5	37,045	39,803	40,227	46,064	48,213
6	38,661	41,982	42,419	48,428	50,808
7	40,342	43,698	44,840	50,793	53,403
8	42,134	46,365	47,293	53,155	55,997
9	43,975	48,494	49,182	55,521	58,591
10	45,482	50,811	51,461	57,886	61,185
11	47,649	52,634	53,753	60,250	63,780
Pen Ult. (PED) 12	49,461		56,182	62,614	66,380
Ult.	52,634				

10.05.03 Pen Ult. (PEd.) And Ult.

Teachers currently employed as of September 01, 1998 who have been classified by their previous Collective Agreements, in the "Pen Ultimate" (Prince Edward) And "Ultimate" Cells will continue with this classification.

10.05.04 Newly Hired Teachers

Newly hired teachers shall be paid in Category Al until such time as they provide proof of a different category classification.

10.05.05 Part Time Teachers

Teachers with less than a full-time assignment shall be paid pro rata based on their assignment percentage.

10.05.06 Salary for Part of a Year

Where a teacher is employed to work only part of the school year, and is paid within that period, the salary will be in proportion that the number of days worked compared to the total number of school days in the school year.

<u>Grid Placement - Credit For Teaching Experience</u>

- 10.06 The following shall apply for the purpose of determining the annual salary appropriate to a teachers teaching experience.
- All teachers shall be entitled to a salary allowance for all previous certified teaching experience approved by this Board and its predecessor Boards up to and including, but not exceeding, the maximum salary in the salary level appropriate to their qualifications.
- 10.06.02 The amount of teaching experience to be allowed for new appointees to the teaching staff shall be as in Article 10.06.01.
- 10.06.03 Approved and certified teaching experience is defined as full-time teaching in a publicly supported school or, at the discretion of the Director of Education, in a privately supported school. Credit given will be pro-rated for part-time teaching.
- 10.06.04 Teaching experience in a College of Applied Arts and Technology or similar institution maintained by public support and under the Ministry of Education and Training of Ontario, or in a Teachers' College or College of Education under the Ministry of Education and Training of Ontario, a University, or with the Human Resources Development Canada Retraining Program in a regular certified program will be admitted as approved and certified teaching experience for salary allowance purposes provided that the Teacher was in possession of an Ontario Teaching Certificate for the period(s) involved.
- 10.06.05 Approved and certified teaching experience as a Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board occasional teacher will be recognized if it includes:
 - a) the occasional teaching taught with this Board replacing one absent teacher, for an unbroken period of not less than five (5) months;
 - b) separate contractual periods that add up to 5 months or more in any year;
 - c) a total of 175 or more occasional teaching days during 3 consecutive school years;
 - d) sub-section (b) and (c) are subject to successful computerized elementary occasional teacher record maintenance or proof that is acceptable to the Board supplied by the Teacher within 30 days of hiring.
- 10.06.06 Teaching experience for less than a full-time assignment and/or less than a full school year including long-term occasional teaching experience, shall be recognized as follows:
 - less than 0.5 assignment or less than one half school year: no credit
 - ii 0.5 assignment or more, or half school year or more: one full year credit,

Examples: A teacher has accrued the following teaching service as provided for above:

- 1) 6 mo. + 4 mo. + 20 mo. + 7 mo. = 37 mo. = 3.7yrs.
- 20 mo. + 3 mo. + 10 mo. + 1 mo. = 34 mo. = 3.4yrs.

The teacher would be entitled to an experience allowance on the salary schedule for 4.0 years in example (i) but for 3.0 years in example (ii).

10.06.07 Occasional elementary teaching experience in 10.06.05 above, prior to September 01, 1998, will continue to be recognized as described in the former Prince Edward County Board of Education and the Hastings County Board of Education 1997-1998 Collective Agreements.

Probationary Period teachers hired as of September 01, 1998

10.06.08 Occasional elementary teaching experience recognized as described in 10.06.05 will apply to newly hired teachers.

10.07 DETERMINATION OF SALARIES

Category Classification Level

10.07.01 Establish the correct Category Classification Level on the Salary Schedule according to QECO Certification Plan(s) or as otherwise provided for in this agreement,

(See 10.09 - QECO)

Increment

10.07.02

In the Classification Level decided according to Clause 10.07.01 above, establish the correct number of full years of approved and certified teaching experience, such placement not to exceed the number of years of experience provided for in the Level concerned. (See 10.06)

Allowances for Training and Related Experience

10.07.03

Add to the salary arrived at in Clauses 10.07.01 and 10.07.02 above, any related experience allowance to which the Teacher may be entitled under this agreement, provided that the combined teaching and related experience allowances do not exceed the maximum salary provided for in the Level concerned. (See 10.06)

Responsibility and Additional Degree Allowances

10.07.04 Add to the salary arrived at in clauses 10.07.01, 10.07.02, and 10.07.03 above, any responsibility and additional degree allowances provided for in this agreement.

No Adverse Effect

10.08

No teacher who was in the employ of the Board on the day prior to the effective date hereof shall be adversely affected with respect to either grid placement or movement on the grid by reason of the application of Articles 10.06 and 10.07 or by reason of implementation of the new Collective Agreement.

QECO - Category Classification

10.09 Each teacher's category classification on the salary grid shall be determined by the

application of a QECO program with the following considerations:

- 10.09.01 Throughout this agreement references to The Qualifications Evaluation Council of Ontario (QECO) Evaluation Statements are related to The Qualifications Evaluation Council of Ontario Teachers Qualifications Evaluation Programme 3 or Programme 4 and any subsequent amendments to these programmes or to future programmes.
- 10.09.02 Each teacher shall be placed in the salary level appropriate to the statement of evaluation.
- 10.09.03 Each elementary school teacher shall obtain a Statement of Evaluation under a Qualifications Evaluation Council of Ontario (QECO) Programme and submit this to the Human Resources Department.
- Teachers who are not qualified to teach in the elementary schools under current Regulations or who are teaching for the year under a letter of permission from the Ministry of Education and Training, will be placed in Category AI, Increment 0 until such time as they achieve a QECO rating.
- 10.09.05 A teacher whose Statement of Evaluation under The Qualifications Evaluation Council of Ontario (QECO) Programme 3 or The Qualifications Evaluation Council of Ontario (QECO) Programme 4 places them in either Category D, C or B shall be placed in Category A Experience Level 12 except as outlined in the 1997-98 elementary Collective Agreements of the two former Boards of Education.

10.10 Category Changes - Salary Level Adjustment

- 10.10.01 For elementary school teachers the QECO Certification Statement endorsed with a category rating is the document accepted by the Board for the purpose of making salary level adjustments.
- 10.10.02 A Teacher qualifying for category change under the QECO Certification Plan(s) is in effect on the date of the Teachers application shall be entitled to the salary rate reflected in the higher category commencing with the month worked following the month in which the requirements for the category change were satisfied.
- 10.10.03 A Teacher requesting a change in category by QECO under the QECO Certification Plan(s) shall file a copy of the application for certification change with the Human Resources Officer, Teaching Staff, coincident with the application to QECO.
- 10.10.04 A teacher who fails to file a copy of the application for certification change with the Board shall be entitled to the salary rate reflected in the higher category commencing with the month following the date on which the QECO Certification Statement was submitted to the Board.

10.11 Responsibility Allowances for ETFO Teachers

10.11.01 Temporary Principal/Temporary Vice-Principal

A teacher promoted to a position of temporary principal or temporary vice-principal shall be paid, in addition to the salary appropriate to the teacher's teaching experience, related experience and qualifications, a per diem allowance for each day of additional responsibility equal to that of a principal or vice principal. The teacher in the temporary position will remain a fee-paying member of the union. The temporary position is defined as one year or less.

10.11.02 Teacher In Charge

- a) When there is neither a principal nor a vice-principal in the school for a half-day or more a teacher shall be asked to assume Teacher-in-Charge responsibilities.
- b) Effective January 01, 1999 the Teacher in Charge shall be paid a per diem rate of \$30.00 in addition to the employee's regular salary. Payment will be made in full or half days. The Teacher in Charge will receive this extra payment on the last pay date in December and the last pay date in June.
- The Teacher will continue to be subject to all terms and conditions of this Collective Agreement, and shall not discipline or evaluate other members of the Bargaining Unit.
- Nothing in this Article prevents the teacher from declining the opportunity to assume the Teacher in Charge duties.
- e) An Occasional Teacher employee shall be hired to replace a member of the Bargaining Unit who is acting to replace an absent Principal/Vice-Principal where deemed necessary by the School Staffing Committee.

10.11.03 ETFO Site Administrator

A Principal or Vice-Principal will be assigned to each twinned school site. In cases where the Principal and Vice-Principal are unavailable and unable to return to the school on a regularly scheduled basis, an ETFO Site Administrator will be designated. The Joint Staffing Committee is responsible for determining these designations. The Joint Staffing Committee will determine any other requirements, including compensatory prep time necessary to ensure the successful operation of the twinned unit. The allowance for an ETFO Site Administrator will be \$1,750.00 per school year beginning February 05, 1999.

10.11.04 System and School Group Co-ordinators: System Special Education Resource Teachers:

Effective 1998 September 01, a teacher assigned by the Board the additional responsibility of a coordinator at the system or school group level, or assigned the additional responsibility of system special education resource teacher for Developmentally Delayed students, shall be paid, in addition to the salary appropriate to the teacher's teaching experience, related experience and qualifications, an allowance for additional responsibility as follows:

Coordinator	- Board Support Staff	\$3,500.00
	- Special Ed. Resource (Dev. Delayed)	\$3,500.00
	- School Group Resource Staff	\$3,500.00

No individual shall be paid more than one full-time equivalent (f.t.e.) responsibility allowance. The responsibility allowance will be pro-rated based on the percentage of time assigned to the position. (Example: $\frac{1}{2}$ time Consultant = \$3500 X $\frac{1}{2}$ = \$1750 allowance).

10.11.05 Union Representative

The Union, from time to time, will advise the Board of additional allowances to be paid by the Board to teachers for union duties, at the expense of the Union.

10.11.06 Union President

Effective 1998 September 01, An allowance of \$5,000 or other such allowance as determined by the local ETFO will be paid to the President as determined by the Union and at the expense of the Union.

10.12 Additional Degree Allowance:

10.12.01 **Definitions of Additional Degrees:**

- A post-graduate degree is an earned degree at the Doctoral level.
- A graduate degree is an earned degree at the Master's level. íi)
- An additional degree is an earned degree (usually a Bachelors Degree) conferred after the iii) first under-graduate degree.

Evaluation: 10.12.02

All degrees for which additional allowances are made are to be degrees from a Canadian University. Where degrees have been conferred by other than a Canadian University, the holder is responsible for providing equivalence to a Canadian Degree at the same level.

10.12.03 Additional Degree not used for QECO Certification

Where a second degree or part of that degree is used for the purpose of obtaining a higher Qualifications Evaluation Council of Ontario (QECO) Certification Rating Statement Category, the degree shall not qualify for any additional allowance.

10.12.04 Additional Degrees Not Recognized

No allowance will be made for Bachelor or Education or Bachelor of Divinity Degrees.

10.12.05 **Allowances**

- For a Master's Degree (or B. Paed.) Allowance shall be \$650.
- i) ii) For a Doctoral Degree the allowance shall be \$1,260.00. (Only one of these degrees may be claimed).
- For certain second degrees (such as BLSc, Bph) where the degree is related to the iii) teacher assignment, an allowance of \$350.00 will be made.
- Only one additional degree allowance is payable to an eligible teacher. iv)

10.12.06 All Teachers Eligible for Additional Degree Allowances:

Allowance for additional degrees, as described above, shall be permitted to pierce salary maxima.

10.12.07 Salary Adjustments Due to Additional Degrees

Salary Adjustment occasioned by the acquisition of a second graduate or post-graduate degree will be made in the same manner as a change in salary level (see Article 10.10)

10.13 Payroll Deductions

With the authorization of the teacher, the Board shall make the appropriate payroll deductions from a teacher's pay for the following purposes:

Canada Savings Bond purchases Group RRSP contributions United Way contributions

ARTICLE 11 - EXPENSES

Expense Allowances

A teacher shall be reimbursed each month for authorized out-of-pocket expenses upon presentation of appropriate receipts and documents.

Professional Development Expenses

11.02 The Board shall reimburse a teacher for all reasonable expenses connected with any educational or teaching conferences, conventions, workshops or courses attended by the teacher as required by the Board.

Travel Expenses

- 11.03 a) A teacher who travels between schools during the school day shall be reimbursed for such travel at the Board approved rate for academic personnel.
 - b) In respect of other travel authorized by the Board, a teacher shall receive reimbursement at the Board approved rate for academic personnel.

11.04 Retraining and Professional Upgrading

- 11.04.01 The Board shall provide a fund of \$30,000/school year for retraining and professional upgrading, The allocation of funds and screening will be done by the Local Union.
- 11.04.02 Applicants should apply in writing, to the Union before October 01, or such other dates as may be determined by ETFO and the Board in the year following the successful completion of the course.

11.04.03 Eligibility

11.04.03.01 Teachers declared TAT (Teachers Available for Transfer) at their school in the current year, OR

11.04.03.02 Teachers affected by Transfer and Surplus (T & S) procedures, OR

- 11.04.03.03 Teachers in a teaching assignment for the next year requiring special/additional certification, OR leading to additional certification in French, OR
- 11.04.03.04 Teachers successfully completing a course contributing to professional growth but not resulting in a salary increase, OR
- 11.04.03.05 Teachers on an approved sabbatical leave may apply to further subsidize tuition costs.
- 11.04.03.06 Applicants must be members of the Local during the period of time that the course was taken and at the time of approval.
- 11.04.04 Funds will be allocated on a priority basis beginning with 11.04.03.01
- 11.04.05 Only those courses equivalent to Ministry of Education standards or recognized by the Ontario College of Teachers or QECO will qualify for assistance.
- 11.04.06 Teachers applying for subsidy in consecutive years will be considered only after funds have been allocated to first-time. applicants.
- 11.04.07 The following details must be provided in your application:
 - (a) present basic certification teaching assignment for September
 - (b) course name, location, duration, sponsor
 - (c) cost of registration, books, other
 - (d) indicate if a salary increase will be forthcoming
 - (e) other information from yourself or school principal to support your application, i.e. relate to pertinent eligibility clause above
 - indicate all funding requested from other sources (how much/where?). Duplicate funding beyond total course expenses will not be approved. Original receipts or other acceptable proof may be required.

Allocation

11.04.08 Funds up to \$350.00 may be available for each eligible application. Any remaining funds will be distributed to the local ETFO executive by November 30 of each year and will be made available for professional development, upgrading and activities.

11.05 Elementary Staff Development

- 11.05.01 The Board shall provide a fund of \$70,000.00 per school year for teacher/Board concerns relative to curriculum needs, instructional practices, staff development and group professional activities as identified by the Staff Development Committee.
- 11.05.02 These funds shall be administered by the Staff Development Committee.
- 11.05.03 The Staff Development Committee will be convened each September by the local ETFO President or designate.
- 11.05.04 The Staff Development Committee will consist of:
 - The Local ETFO President,

- One or more additional ETFO Representative(s) to be named by ETFO,
- The Superintendent of Human Resources, or designate.
- 11.05.05 The Staff Development Committee will prepare and advertise criteria for application by individuals and groups for funding by October 31 of each school year, or other time as is mutually agreed by the committee.
- 11.05.06 Fund applications will be reviewed by the Staff Development Committee and funds will be allocated at least once each school year.
- 11.05.07 Any funds remaining in the Elementary Staff Development Fund after March 31 of each year will be distributed to the local ETFO executive to be available for teacher professional development, curriculum support, and instructional support.

ARTICLE 12 - WORKING CONDITIONS

School Year

12.01

Teachers shall not be required to work any days preceding the official start of the school year for students except in years where 194 school days are not available between Labour Day and June 30.

No teacher shall be required to work before the start of the school year for pupils unless this day is designated by the Board/ETFO joint committee as one of the 194 school days.

School Timetables/Plans

12.02 The

The Joint Staffing Committee will review school timetables and school plans annually to ensure compliance with the Collective Agreement

Extra-Curricular Activities

12.03 It is understood that extra-curricular activities are voluntary.

Instructional Time

12.04

The Parties agree that each teachers instructional time shall be as follows, which shall not be changed without the consent of the Union:

Part-time teachers shall have their instruction-to-pupil time pro-rated.

The Board shall ensure that each full-time teacher in elementary schools is assigned to provide instruction to pupils for no more than 1350 (thirteen hundred and fifty) minutes for each period of 5 (five) instructional days during the school year.

Instructional time is any time that a teacher is required by the timetable to have students within their care.

Preparation Time

12.05

Exclusive of morning and afternoon recesses and the lunch period, each teacher on a full-time assignment shall be assigned at least 150 (one hundred and fifty) minutes free from supervisory, teaching or other duties within the scheduled working day and within each

period of 5 (five) instructional days.

- 12.06 Preparation time within the daily five (5) hour instructional program (300 minutes) is intended for the purposes of planning, student evaluation, and conferencing. Of this time, some blocks of not less than 30 minutes will be scheduled. If blocks of preparation time of 30 or more minutes are not provided, the teachers schedule will be referred to the School Staffing Committee for consideration and recommendation. The Joint Staffing Committee will provide additional support where required.
- 12.07 In addition to the preparation time described above, each teacher will be permitted to schedule one day of preparation time per school year exclusive of Professional Activity days, subject to availability of occasional teachers,

Lunch Break

12.08 Each teacher shall receive each day an uninterrupted and continuous period of not less than forty (40) minutes for lunch, free from supervisory, teaching or other assigned duties (reference: Regulation 233/88/Section 3).

School Year Calendar Committee

12.09 The number, scheduling and plans for N.I. days and exam days will be determined by the Joint ETFO/Admin School Year Calendar Committee. The Union will name their ETFO members. Teachers will follow these NI/exam day plans unless a prior approval for an individual school plan is given by the Committee.

Time for Travelling

12.10 A teacher who is assigned duties at 2 (two) or more locations on the same day shall be provided with adequate time to travel between the locations.

When travelling time occurs, it shall be exclusive of preparation time.

Workload/Split Grades

- 12.11 a) Assignments in each school shall be allocated equitably.
 - b) A teacher may request a review of assignments by the School Staffing Committee. The School Staffing Committee will convene, review and make written recommendations to the Teacher and Principal within two weeks, unless times are extended by mutual agreement,
 - C) Split Grades
 The School Staffing Committee will explore alternatives to minimize the impact of split grade classes.

Educational improvements and Efficiencies/ Supervision Time

12.12 The Joint Staffing Committee will study methods of improving the educational environment in the elementary schools in the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board.

The Committee will make recommendations to the Senior Administrative Council regarding

improvements to the educational environment.

<u>Supervision Time:</u> During the January 01 to June 30, 1999 time frame, a particular emphasis will be placed on the issue of supervision time by teachers in elementary schools.

Teacher Absence

12.13 The Board shall provide an occasional teacher when a teacher is absent. Teachers will not be required to cover other teacher absences. Teachers will not be required to assume the instructional and/or supervision duties caused by a staff member's absence.

Staff Meetings

- 12.14 a) At the beginning of the school year, the School Staffing Committee will meet to discuss the desired timing for regular staff meetings.
 - b) Notice of regularly scheduled staff meetings shall be posted.
 - c) An agenda shall be distributed to all teachers before the staff meeting.
 - d) Teachers may place items on the staff meeting agenda.
 - e) Where school union representatives are required to attend union meetings to represent their staff, after the scheduled working day, they shall be excused from school meetings, and shall receive meeting notes to keep them updated as required.
 - f) The ETFO School Contact or CBC Steward may call school teacher meetings from time to time to provide information, discuss issues and carry on union business. Such school meeting should not conflict with staff meetings. A suitable space in the school will be provided at no charge.
 - g) Staff meetings will end before 5:00 p.m. except with the consent of the School Staffing Committee.
- 12.15 School Support Persons (E.A.'s. Library Technicians, Yard/School Supervisors. etc.)
- 12.15.01 <u>Educational Assistants</u>

Educational Assistants who are assigned duties in classrooms are responsible to the teachers of those students and to the principals of those schools.

12.15.02 <u>Evaluation of Non-Teacher School Support Persons</u>

ETFO, the Board and CUPE will attempt to develop an evaluation process that involves the three stake-holders for classroom Educational Assistants, school Library Technicians, supervisors, and other School Support Persons. This process should be completed by June 1999. To address more immediate needs during the period of January to June, 1999, the Board and ETFO will jointly develop a set of guidelines to be available to assist ETFO staff in supervising the operation of their classrooms.

12.15.03 Interim Evaluation Process

During the Interim Evaluation phase, the Board and ETFO, will provide training as required to ETFO members who are involved in the Interim Evaluation Process. While co-ordination of all Board staff to meet the educational needs of our students is of paramount importance, this process will not be used in teacher evaluations until the Board and ETFO agree that sufficient training has been provided to expect teacher competence in this area.

12.15.04 <u>School Support Person Job Descriptions</u>

School Staffing Committees will be given copies of all School Support Person job descriptions.

12.15.05 School Library Resource Teachers

An ETFO teacher in each school will be provided with a minimum of one period of approximately 40 minutes of additional release time to maintain a consistent link between the student, teaching staff, principal and the library technician and provide input on staff needs to implement curriculum.. (See 13.02.05) (School Staffing Committees may increase this L.R.T. release time from classroom duties, in accordance with individual school priorities within the school's staffing allocation).

12.15.06 School Support Person Responsibility Allowance

Beginning on September 1, 1999, an annual fund of \$15,000 will be provided. Monies in the fund will be allocated for responsibility allowances to teachers who supervise School Support Persons . A formula will be developed by the Joint Staffing Committee to allocate the allowances to ETFO members. Applications should be forwarded to the ETFO Joint Staffing Committee Co-chair no later than May 31 in each school year. ETFO will administer these responsibility allowances and will notify the Board concerning approved allowances, As of August 31st, any funds remaining will be distributed to the local ETFO executive.

ARTICLE 13 - STAFFING NEEDS - STAFFING FORMULA

- 13.01 The June 11 , 1998 AMENDED STAFFING PROCEDURES will be the basis for determining school and system elementary staff for the 1998-1999 school year.
- 13.02 Effective September 1, 1999, The Joint Staffing Committee shall calculate the system staffing needs with a minimum of 712 F.T.E. teachers allocated to the elementary schools based on an Average Daily Enrolment of 14,583 FTE students.

<u>Average Daily Enrolment</u> (ADE) is calculated based on the number of students enrolled on the Ministry count dates as set in government regulations as approved by the Joint Staffing Committee.

- 13.02.01 <u>Basic Teaching Staff</u> is calculated by dividing the school's <u>Average Daily Enrolment</u> by 25.
- 13.02.02 JK/SK Centrally Assigned Infusion recognizes that a Basic Teaching Staff divisor of 25 does not generate the half-time teacher required to cover the class. Additional staff to eliminate this discrepancy will be generated by comparing the number of JK/SK sections required to the amount of staff generated using the 25 to 1 ratio.

Staffing available will be the difference between the two calculations.

- 13.02.03 School Needs/Prep Time staff of 83.19 teachers will be allocated to schools based on each school's enrolment expressed as a percentage of the total elementary enrolment, This staff is to be used to provide teacher preparation time at a rate of 150 minutes per week. After the preparation time has been allocated the remaining staff can be used for a variety of school needs identified by the principal and the School Staffing Committee.
- 13.02.04 <u>School Special Education Resour</u>ce staff of 25 teachers will be allocated by the Joint Staffing Committee with a base of .25 per school plus additional staffing based on the school's number of exceptional pupils compared to the system total of exceptional pupils. This staff must be an ETFO member, except by approval of the Joint Staffing Committee.

13.02.05 School Library Resource Teacher

A factor of .03 of a teacher will be applied to each school's staffing formula to provide an ETFO teacher in each school with a minimum of one period of approximately 40 minutes of additional release time. An additional 1.5 F.T.E. will be assigned to schools, based on enrolment for this factor. This factor is to maintain a consistent link between the student, teaching staff, principal and the library technician and provide input on staff needs required to implement curriculum. (School Staffing Committees may increase this L.R.T. release time from classroom duties, in accordance with individual school priorities within the school's staffing allocation).

13.02.06 System's Coordinators

- 1 Library Support
- 3 Special Education Resource for Developmentally Delayed Students
- 4 Central Support
- 13.02.07 <u>Instrumental Music Infusion</u>: Schools that provide instrumental music will receive additional staff beyond the Basic Teaching Staff which will be allocated according to the following formula: # of Gr. 7 & 8 students multiplied by .002.
- 13.02.08 <u>Breakage Staff</u> is a total of 3.0 F.T.E. staff to be used by the Superintendents to resolve staffing problems related to Transfer and Surplus or other staffing anomalies that tend to arise each year. Such staffing will be allocated no later than September 30, unless approved otherwise by the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 13.02.09 School Group Resource Staff: There will be a minimum of .3 F.T.E. Special Education School Group Resource staff for each of eight (8) School Groups providing a total of 2.4 staff. There will be 4 additional (F.T.E.) staff allocated at the School Group level to provide support in curriculum areas.
- 13.02.10 <u>Elementary Special Education Teachers</u>: Staffing, including staffing for prep time for schools with Developmentally Delayed classes, Systems Special Education teachers and other Special Education classes will be 51 (F.T.E.). Special Education teachers from this pool will be deployed by the Superintendent of Special Education

or designate following consultation with the Joint Staffing Committee.

- 13.03 <u>Staffing Adjustments</u>: For every change of 19 students in the system, up or down, the number of teachers may be adjusted by 1. The implementation process will be determined by the Joint Staffing Committee. There shall be a September 30 Staffing Date. A meeting of the Joint Staffing Committee shall be scheduled no later than the third week in September to review the enrolment and school needs data and make recommendations to the Board and ETFO for possible adjustments to staffing, if necessary. No adjustment in staffing during the school year will be made except by prior consultation by the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 13.04 The Principal in consultation with the School Staffing Committee shall determine the deployment of teaching staff. This shall be accomplished in ways which meet the needs of students in the school.
- 13.05 The Joint Staffing Committee shall use the following form when reporting the number of school staff to the principal and School Staffing Committee. With mutual consent, the form may be revised.

ELEMENTARY STAFFING FORM

School Year	Date	

	Average Daily Enrolment	
1	Basic Teaching Staff (JK-8)	ADE/25 = (Average Daily Enrolment)
2	JW/SK (centrally assigned infusion)	
3	School Needs/Prep Time Staff (Basic staff X .15631)	
4	School Special Education Resource Staff (.25 + % Identified Pupils)	.25+% - =
5	School Library Resource Teacher	
6	System Staffing (please list type)	
7	TOTAL	

STAFFING ALLOCATION NOTES

Basic Staff Is the staff required to organize classes on a 25: 1 ratio.

JK/SK Infusion - This is staff assigned by the School Group Superintendent to minimize the

need for K-8 staff to subsidize JK/SK classes.

School Needs/Prep Time - An amount of staff to be used by the school to meet preparation time

provisions in the Collective Agreement. Additional staffing allocation within this factor may be used to improve the school organization, lower class size, enhance resource support for staff to supplement special education needs,

additional library service or to support any other school priorities as determined by the School Staffing Committee and Principal.

School Special Education Resource Staff

Must be timetabled to provide identifiable support for exceptional pupils in

the school.

System Staffing This staff will be used to support System Special Education Programs,

Instrumental Music, (if the school operates an instrumental Music Program for intermediate pupils), staff assigned centrally to rationalize the school's final staffing numbers or assigned to assist Developmentally Delayed

students in regular schools

Signature of Principal Signature of ETFO Steward

ARTICLE 14 - THE STAFF RECORDS LIST:

14.1 **Contents**

- 14.1.1 contains the names of all elementary teachers employed by the Board;
- 14.1.2 indicates the elementary school(s) to which each Teacher is assigned and the teacher's entitlement in each school (Teachers who are serving on the Support Staff, whose leave of absence no longer grants them the right to return to their original school and any other ETFO member employed by the Board under a permanent or probationary contract who is not assigned to a school is listed as being centrally assigned at the Education Centre);
- 14.1.3 contains information about **each** Teacher's initial and additional qualifications, curricular programs that each Teacher is qualified to teach, curricular programs that each Teacher prefers to teach, length and location of teaching experience, category rating, credit for teaching experience, subjects taught, salary & allowances, benefit plan contributions, accumulated sick leave credits, deductions, pertinent conditions of any previous mobility, projected year of retirement and any other information deemed to be necessary to the Joint Stating Committee.

14.2 Updates to the Staff Records List:

Upon request, each teacher submits information for the Staff Records List, including corrections and updates to qualifications, to the Human Resources Department of the Board by December 13 or a date to be determined by the Joint Staffing Committee. Information submitted to the Board will remain confidential to the parties.

ARTICLE 15 - RETURNING FROM LEAVES OF ABSENCE AND SUPPORT STAFF POSITION(S)

- 15.0 Support Staff include teachers who are System Co-ordinators, System Special Education Resource teachers and School Group Resource teachers and other teachers designated by the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 15.1 A Teacher who begins a leave of absence or who begins a term of service on the Support Staff and who subsequently returns from the leave or who completes the term of service is subject to the staffing processes.
- 15.2 A Teacher who accepts a Support Staff position or ETFO approved Union Leave retains entitlement to return to the same school subject to the staffing processes and the Memorandum of Understanding.
- 15.3 A Memorandum of Understanding between the teacher & the Joint Staffing Committee specifies the agreed conditions of the assignment and of the re-entry into a school staff. Changes to this Memorandum must be mutually agreed upon by the teacher & Joint Staffing Committee.
- 15.4 information concerning re-entry of Support Staff from the Education Centre/School Group positions to a classroom position will be submitted to the Joint Staffing Committee when it becomes available.

ARTICLE 16 JOINT STAFFING COMMITTEE

16.1 Composition of the Joint Staffing Committee

The Joint Staffing Committee is composed of the Local ETFO President, the Local Grievance Officer and one other ETFO representative, one Superintendent, two representatives of Administration and the Human Resources Officer, Teaching Staff (non-voting), or their designates.

16.2 Responsibilities of the Joint Staffing Committee

- 16.2.1 The Superintendent and the Local President (or designate) shall be co-chairs of the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 16.2.2 The Human Resources Officer, Teaching Staff, acts as Recording Secretary.
- Minutes of each meeting of the Joint Staffing Committee shall be delivered to each member of the Committee three days following the meeting of the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 16.2.4 Signed Memoranda of Mobility, shall be kept on file. Copies shall be forwarded to the Local ETFO Office, and to the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board.
- 16.2.5 The Joint Staffing Committee meets at the call of either of the Co-chairs.

16.3 **Procedures of the Joint Staffing Committee**

- 16.03.01 The Joint Staffing Committee develops, reviews and alters such operating practices as it deems necessary for the efficient implementation of its mandate, provided that no practice contravenes the provisions of the Collective Agreement.
- 16.03.02 The Joint Staffing Committee shall be responsible for Mobility.
- As information on the status of staffing becomes available, it will be released by agreement of the Joint Staffing Committee.

ARTICLE 17 DETERMINING STAFFING PROCEDURES, NEEDS AND VACANCIES

- 17.1 Annually in October the Joint Staffing Committee reviews its staffing policies, processes and procedures. Recommendations from this review agreed to by ETFO Local and the Board shall become part of the operations of the Joint Staffing Committee for that year.
- 17.2 The Joint Staffing Committee verifies Board information concerning staff levels, including Average Daily Enrolment (ADE), School and County Staffing totals, staffing calculations and other data that is relevant and authorizes release of school staffing information to Principals and

- School Staffing Committee. (See T&S Process, 40.04.02 and Article 13 Staffing)
- 17.3 The Joint Staffing Committee will be consulted prior to determining the method to be chosen to fill vacancies. (See Vacancies, Article 5)
- 17.4 In the event that the Board determines that teacher relocations will be required to meet program needs after September 1, the Joint Staffing Committee will develop and manage strategies that are consistent with the Collective Agreement. (See Article 41, October Enrolment Imbalances), (See Article 6, Transfers).

ARTICLE 18 MOBILITY

18.01 **Mobility Applications**

The Joint Staffing Committee will invite applications for voluntary mobility annually, prior to initiating any Transfer and Surplus moves.

- Mobility may be in the form of an exchange, or placement in a vacancy, or in conjunction with the Transfer and Surplus process or to help meet program needs in schools.
- 18.01.02 Teachers may apply for Mobility, by submitting an application for Mobility and such other information as the Joint Staffing Committee requires to the joint Chairs of the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 18.01.03 Teachers may reject mobility offers.
- 18.01.04 Mobility is temporary and may be for part of a year, up to two years.

18.02 Factors Related to Mobility

- Mobility is a voluntary process and should address staffing needs with consideration for geographic, academic and personal requirements.
- 18.02.02 The Joint Staffing Committee finalizes moves at such times as it may deem appropriate, subject to the terms of the Collective Agreement.
- A Teacher's Mobility is deemed to be complete when agreed to by the Joint Staffing Committee and the Teacher. The Memorandum of Mobility, signed by the Teacher and the Superintendent of the Board, specifies the nature, the term and any other conditions of the move. Copies of this Memorandum of Mobility will be filed with ETFO, the teacher and the Board.
- A Teacher may serve two consecutive years on a Mobility move at the same school subject to Transfer and Surplus. At the end of two years, a Teacher must return to his/her home school or become a permanent member of the school to which the Teacher is on Mobility assignment, subject to the Transfer and Surplus process and the approval of the Joint Staffing Committee.

- 18.02.05 The Principals and Senior Administration, in consultation with the Joint Staffing Committee, retain the right to **use** a process of reassignment to address program and staffing needs which may not have been met through the mobility process.
 - 18.02.05.01 **ADMINISTRATIVE REASSIGNMENTS** are confirmed in a Memorandum of Reassignment from Senior Administration to the Teacher, specifying the program &/or staffing reason(s), term and other conditions of reassignment. Appeals to reverse reassignments are made in writing to the Director. Teachers may cite undue hardships, **lack** of due process and lack of procedural fairness as reasons for this appeal.
 - 18.02.05.02 When, as a result of the deliberations of the Joint Staffing Committee, the possibility of the need for a reassignment of a Teacher appears likely, the Teacher is informed by the Principal of his/her current school that a move is being considered. The reasons for the reassignment are listed. This information is given in the presence of the local Union President, The Teacher may provide information pertinent to the proposed reassignment to the Principal and the local Union President within twenty-four hours of receipt of this written notice.
 - 18.02.05.03 Teachers who have been reassigned may apply for Mobility to an alternate school from their new school.
- 18.02.06 If a teacher's percentage of time is altered during any staffing process, the Teacher retains entitlement to his/her highest percentage of teaching time. Other reductions or increases in teaching assignments **may** only be effected by the mutual consent of the parties.
- 18.02.07 In instances where a teacher is moved to a teaching assignment in two schools in a day, the Teacher is given adequate travelling time between the two schools.
- 18.02.08 Each Principal and the School Staffing Committee develops school plans to facilitate the entry of Teachers new to the school.
- 18.02.09 The receiving Principal contacts the Teacher and discusses the teaching assignment and the roles that the Teacher will play in the new school as soon as it is practicable to do so.
- 18.02.10 The Memorandum of Mobility is subject to the Transfer and Surplus process.

ARTICLE 19. SCHOOL STAFFING COMMITTEES

19.1 Committee Structure

A school staffing committee shall be established in every school.

The staff of the school shall elect at least 20% of its members to the School Staffing Committee.

The Principal, Vice-principal, ETFO School Representative and the C.B.C. Steward shall automatically be members of the School Staffing Committee and shall not be included in the 20% named above, except by mutual consent of the teachers.

The Union representatives on the committee shall be in place from October 1 to September 30. If any Union representatives resign from the committee or are transferred to another school, the staff of the school shall elect a replacement.

The principal has final responsibility for school organization subject to Senior Administration and the Board.

19.2 The responsibilities of the School Staffing Committee shall be as follows:

- 19.2.1 To review the current school staffing allocation and deployment and to propose any such modification as may be required to create and maintain the best teaching and learning environment, to make the most effective use of all staff who are allocated to schools and to comply with the terms of the Collective Agreement,
- 19.2.2 To consider and respond to organizational proposals and/or suggestions submitted by staff members to the committee throughout the year.
- 19.2.3 To analyze the staffing allocation from the Joint Staffing Committee based on projected enrolment and teacher allocation formulas for presentation to the total staff prior to the Transfer and Surplus Process.
- 19.2.4 To recommend to the Principal, if necessary, any modifications to be made to in-school timetabling at any time during the school year.
- 19.2.5 To assist in the development and completion of a September school timetable by June 15 based on the Joint Staffing Committee's (JSC) staff allocations and the school's programming needs and priorities as identified by the school's administration and teaching staff.
- 19.2.6 To assist in the development of a supervision schedule which is equitable, includes all teaching, school support staff, and administrative staff (unless specifically excluded by the School Staffing Committee) and meets the guidelines as developed by the Joint Staffing Committee.

Where the Joint Staffing Committee supervision recommendations cannot be met by the School Staffing Committee, the School Staffing Committee will make recommendations to the Joint Staffing Committee concerning additional system support requirements, The Joint Staffing Committee will attempt to meet these supervision needs and report in writing to the School Staffing Committee.

- 19.2.7 To assist in the equitable distribution of instructional and non-instructional periods.
- 19.2.8 To assist in developing appropriate timetables for teachers who are assigned to teach in

more than one school. The School Staffing Committee shall assist in the facilitation of adequate communication between the schools involved in order to ensure fairness with respect to supervision schedules and the distribution of instructional and non-instructional periods as well as adequate travelling time.

19.2.9 The School Staffing Committee may invite up to two non-teaching representatives who may be included as non-voting members of the School Staffing Committee in an advisory capacity. The School Staffing Committee may make recommendations to the Principal concerning adjustments in non-teaching staffs' responsibilities to facilitate improvements in student learning, staff needs, and supervision duties.

19.3 School Staffing Committee (SSC) Records

19.3.01	The School Staffing Committee will maintain written records of its meetings,
	describing topics/issues that were considered, alternatives discussed, and
	decisions made.

- 19.3.02 Any School Staffing Committee recommendations and decisions will be copied for staff following each School Staffing Committee meeting.
- 19.3.03 The School Staffing Committee Record Book will be maintained by the secretary and will be available to the Joint Staffing Committee and school staff upon request.

19.4 Instructional Time, Preparation Time, Supervision Time, and Timetables

19.4.01 Each teacher will submit to the School Staffing Committee a copy of their individual timetable by September 20. The teacher will include a written analysis of total weekly (5 day) instructional time which will not exceed the limits of the Collective Agreement. The teacher will also include an analysis of total weekly preparation time which will be no less than the minimums described in the Collective Agreement. The Joint Staffing Committee will provide an appropriate form.

- 19.4.02 The School Staffing Committee will verify the school timetable(s) for all primary, junior and intermediate teachers to determine that the school timetable(s) meet(s) the expectations of the Collective Agreement.
- 19.4.03 The School Staffing Committee will verify the teacher timetables meet the expectations of the Collective Agreement.
- 19.4.04 In situations where timetables do not meet the expectations of the Collective Agreement, the School Staffing Committee will recommend organizational changes to the principal.
- 19.4.05 School and individual timetables, and School Staffing Committee verifications, will be kept in the School Staffing Committee Record Book.

19.4.06

In the event that the timetables can't be revised to meet the expectations concerning instructional, supervision or preparation time, the chairs of the Joint Staffing Committee will be notified by the School Staffing Committee or the CBC Steward. Committee recommendations concerning organizational alternatives and/or additional resources should accompany this notice to the Joint Staffing Committee. The Board will consider alternatives to ensure compliance with the Collective Agreement following input from the Joint Staffing Committee.

ARTICLE 20 SCHOOL BUDGET COMMITTEE

The principal of each Hastings and Prince Edward District Elementary School is expected to establish a School Budget Committee which will have a minimum of three ETFO members. The committee will have access to all school level financial information and will make recommendations to the principal with respect to funding allocations, short and long term priorities and any other fiscal matters affecting the operation of the school.

ARTICLE 21 - MEDICAL PROCEDURES

Not Responsible For Diagnosis or Medication

- 21.01 No Union member will be required to carry out any medical/physical procedures.
- 21.02 The Board recognizes the right of any Union member to refuse to be assigned to administer medication or perform any medical/physical procedures.
- 21.03 In the event of a medical emergency, a Union member may perform such procedures as are necessary to the safety and well-being of the child.
- 21.04 It shall not be part of the duties and responsibilities of a teacher to examine pupils for communicable conditions or diseases or to diagnose such conditions or diseases.

Trained Personnel to be Provided

2 1 . 0 5 To the extent possible, the Board shall use appropriately trained non-teaching personnel to perform any of the functions outlined in Article 21 .01.

ARTICLE 22 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Board is committed to ensure the safety of teachers.

In accordance with relevant legislation, the Board operates an Academic Health and Safety Committee.

In September the Principal shall provide a Safety briefing to staff. Teachers will be briefed on the contents and location of the following resources:

- a) Emergency Measures Plan
- b) School and Staff Safety Plan

- c) Safety Regulations and the Academic Health and Safety Committee Input Process
- d) Violence Free Schools Policy

No teacher shall be discharged, penalized or disciplined in any way for making a complaint relating to health and safety.

ARTICLE 23 - HARASSMENT

- it is the obligation of the Board to ensure that every teacher is free from harassment in the working environment.
- In order to ensure an environment free of harassment. The Board agrees to establish with the Union a comprehensive harassment policy, no later than June 30, 1999.
- The Board and the teachers agree that every teacher has a right to freedom in the working environment, from harassment by the Board, an agent of the Board or another teacher because of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, age, record of offenses, marital status, family status or disability.
- 23.04 Harassment is defined as any unwelcome action of a verbal, visual or physical nature by any person, whether repeated or a single incident which humiliates, insults or degrades another person.

ARTICLE 24 - BENEFIT PLANS

24.0 A copy of the master policy or policies of the insured benefit plans shall be given to the Union. In the event of a decision to change carriers, the Board agrees to implement the same coverage as described in the master policies or such other plan that the Union agrees is an appropriate substitution. No amendment to any plan shall be made without the written consent of the Union,

ARTICLE 25 - GROUP LIFE INSURANCE PLAN

- 25.01 This plan provides basic coverage of \$100,000 pro-rated, by teaching time except as described below.
- 25.02 The Board agrees to contribute one hundred percent (100%) of the assessed premium for the coverage of \$100,000 under the plan for full-time employees. The premium is prorated for part-time teachers.

If a part-time employee does not want to pay the teacher portion of the \$100,000 premium, he/she may elect coverage of \$25,000, which is paid in full by the Board.

25.03 Optional amounts in multiples of \$25,000.00 may be elected by the Teacher.

- 25.04 The maximum amount of Basic and Optional Insurance combined is \$200,000.
- 25.05 The Group Life Insurance Plan shall be available to all regularly employed Teachers in accordance with the eligibility requirements of the plan.
- 25.06 There shall be compulsory participation in the Group Life Insurance Plan.
- 25.07 In addition, the Board agrees to pay the cost of \$100,000.00 Accidental Death Coverage.

ARTICLE 26 EXTENDED HEALTH CARE INSURANCE PLAN

- 26.01 The Board agrees to pay one-hundred percent (100%) of the premium cost of an Extended Health Care Plan which includes Private and Semi-Private coverage.
- 26.02 The Board agrees to pay 100% of the cost of the premium for the Vision Care Rider.
- 26.03 The Extended Health Care Insurance Plan shall be available to all regularly appointed Teachers on a voluntary enrolment basis, in accordance with the eligibility requirements of the Plan.
- 26.04 The Extended Health Care Insurance Plan will include the Deluxe Travel Plan.

ARTICLE 27 DENTAL PLAN

- 27.01 The Board agrees to pay 100% of the premium cost of a dental plan at the current minus one year Ontario Dental Association schedule of fees with rate changes effective September, coverage effective September 1.
- 27.02 The Dental Plan shall be available to all regularly appointed Teachers on a voluntary enrolment basis, in accordance with the eligibility requirements of the Plan.
- 27.03 Pit and Fissure Sealants. The Board agrees to administer a Pit and Fissure Sealants Plan and pay 100% of the premium.
- 27.04 The Board agrees to pay 75% of the premium cost of Dental Rider #3, Orthodontic Services.
- 27.05 The Board agrees to pay 75% of the premium cost of Dental Rider #4, Restorative Services.

ARTICLE 28 LONG TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE PLAN

28.0 Long Term Disability benefits shall be provided. The current non-integrated plan(s) with 60% benefit payment and OTPP payment will be maintained subject to review, report and implementation of a combined plan as determined by Local ETFO. Teachers from the former Hastings County Board of Education will require a 75 day waiting period, with former Prince Edward County Board of Education employees requiring a 60 day waiting period until such time as the plans are amended.

- 28.01 The Teachers agree to pay 100% of the premium cost of the Long Term Disability Insurance Plan. The teachers shall have ownership of the plan, including right of tender and the Board will administer the plan(s).
- 28.02 The Long Term Disability Insurance Plan shall be available to ail regularly employed Teachers in accordance with the eligibility requirements of the plan.
- 28.03 The conditions of enrollment in the Long Term Disability Plan for all Teachers transferred from the predecessor boards shall prevail.
 - 28.03.01 Conditions for those transferred from Hastings County. There shall be compulsory participation in the Long Term Disability Plan for all Teachers hired after 1979 January 01.
 - 28.03.02 Conditions for those transferred from Prince Edward County There shall be compulsory participation in the Long Term Disability Plan for all Teachers hired after 1990 January 01.
- 28.04 There shall be compulsory participation in the Long Term Disability Plan for all Teachers hired by this Board after 1998 September 01.
- 28.05 The Board agrees to provide 100% of the Extended Health Care Insurance Plan and the Dental Plan as outlined in Articles 23 and 24 for a Teacher claiming Long Term Disability Insurance benefits to a maximum of two (2) years.
- 28.06 LTD premiums are paid by Union members through payroll deductions.
- 28.07 A teacher absent from work and receiving LTD benefits maintains his/her employment with the Board and the period of absence is an authorized LTD leave of absence. During this period, the teacher continues to accrue seniority.

28.08 **Expiration of Benefits**

The teacher, following expiration of all sick leave benefits, LTD benefits and paid leave benefits, may continue on unpaid medical leave, or other leave as described in the Collective, Agreement,

- 28.09 The teacher may agree to other employment within the Board which is not covered by this Collective Agreement. The Board (in consultation with) the Union will initiate a return-to-work plan or early intervention to help rehabilitate or retrain the teacher.
- 28.10 Participation During Lay Off

A teacher who is laid off may continue to participate in one or more of the benefit plans, until the right to recall expires, provided the teacher pays the total cost of such plans.

28.11 Part Time

The Board's contribution to benefit premiums will be pro-rated for part-time teachers.

28.12 <u>Leave of Absence</u>

A teacher who has been granted a leave under the terms of this Collective Agreement shall have the right to continued participation in any of the benefit plans at the teachers expense.

28.13 <u>Suitable Alternative Employment</u>

The Board and the Union shall agree on policies and procedures for providing teachers who have been injured or disabled, including teachers who have been in receipt of Workplace Safety and Insurance benefits, with suitable alternative employment where they are unable to carry out the normal duties of their previous assignment.

28.14 Not Cause For Termination

The Board shall not terminate the employment of any teacher because the teacher is absent due to illness or injury or in receipt of Workplace Safety and Insurance Benefits or Long Term Disability Benefits.

ARTICLE 29 - SICK LEAVE

Sick Leave Account

29.01

The Board shall administer a sick leave plan and maintain a sick leave account for each teacher who is employed by the Board. The account shall show the number of days of sick leave, if any, accumulated by each teacher as of the commencement of the school year and the number of days of sick leave credited and used thereafter.

Transfer of Credits

29.02

A teacher who previously has been employed by this Board, a predecessor Board, another Board, or a municipality or local Board as defined in the Municipal Affairs Act, which operated or operates a cumulative sick leave plan, shall be credited with all sick leave credits accumulated therein whether or not there has been any intervening period of unemployment or non-teaching or teaching employment.

Sick Leave Credit Accumulation

29.03

On the first day of each school year a full-time teacher shall be credited an allowance of 20 (twenty) days sick leave and for the purposes of the plan, unused sick leave days shall be accumulated and carried forward from year to year. The sick leave credits for each teacher will be carried forward to the District School Board from the boards in existence prior to January 1, 1998.

Pro-rated for Part-Time

29.04

Where an eligible academic employee commences employment after September 01, in any year, the sick leave of twenty (20) days shall be pro-rated at the rate of two (2) days per month, rounded up to the nearest 1/2 day.

Leaves of Absence

29.05

There shall be no sick leave credit accumulation during leaves of absence except as specified in the Collective Agreement.

Account Debited

29.06 The sick leave account for each teacher shall be debited one day for each day of absence due to illness.

Sick Leave Credit Accumulation

29.07 Teachers shall be entitled to accumulate 240 sick leave days to their account,

Special Needs

29.08 Teachers may apply to the Board and Union for consideration of additional cumulative sick leave benefits beyond those described in the Collective Agreement based on need and Board finances.

ARTICLE 30 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Supply Teaching While on Leave

Teachers who are on a Board approved Leave of Absence should gain approval from the Ontario Teachers' Pension Board prior to initiating any supply teaching in Ontario for pay during the leave. If the teacher intends to buy back credit for the Board approved leave, supply teaching will cause OTPP problems.

Leaves of Absence Without Pay

- A non-probationary teacher may be granted a leave of absence without pay. A probationary teacher may be granted a leave of absence without pay by mutual agreement of the parties.
- 30.02 A request for a leave of absence shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 30.03 A teacher on a leave of absence without pay shall be provided upon request with such information as will enable the teacher to pay full premiums to maintain uninterrupted employee benefits for the period of the leave if the teacher so desires.
- 30.04 Changes in the terms of a leave of absence under this Article may be made only by mutual consent of the teacher and the Board, must be in writing, and must conform with the requirements of this Collective Agreement, The principal concerned shall be provided with a copy thereof.
- 30.05 The teacher shall continue to accumulate seniority to a maximum of 5 years even if extensions to the leave are approved. (See Article 40.03)

Leave for Public Office

30.06 The Board shall grant a leave of absence without pay to a teacher for the purpose of campaigning for or serving as a member of the Legislative Assembly of Ontario, the House of Commons or the local council of a municipality. The teacher shall continue to accumulate seniority for the period of the leave.

LEAVE FOR UPGRADING OR RETRAINING

30.07 Teachers who would otherwise be laid off shall, upon request, be granted leave of absence of up to 2 (two) years for educational upgrading to become qualified to teach in areas for which teachers may be required by the Board. Upon expiry of the leave the teacher shall

be given any position for which the teacher is qualified which is held by a teacher with less seniority; otherwise, the teacher shall be laid off.

The teacher may apply for tuition assistance from the Board and the Union if the teacher undertakes educational upgrading in a program leading to qualifications in an area which has been jointly designated by the Board and the Union as an area for which the Board will require additional qualified teachers over the next two years.

ARTICLE 31 SHORT TERM LEAVE PLAN

31.01 Short Term Leaves

Short Term Leaves are designed to allow permanent teachers to apply for short term personal leaves of absence not otherwise covered by this Collective Agreement.

31.02 Short Term Leave Conditions

- 31.02.01 Those applying must have successfully completed their probationary period.
- 31.02.02 Approved Short Term Leaves will be without pay.
- 31.02.03 Benefits will continue to be paid by the Board while the Teacher is on a Short Term Leave
- 31.02.04 Teachers may apply to Teachers' Pension Plan and the Board will reimburse the teacher
- 31.02.05 Teachers may apply at any time for this leave during the year.
- 31.02.06 Applications must be made in writing to the Superintendent of Human Resources with a copy to ETFO. Approval will be at the sole discretion of the Board.
- 31.02.07 Applications must be received at least a month in advance of the anticipated leave, unless unforeseen circumstances arise. Applications should outline the reason for the leave, (which will be kept confidential), duration of the leave and educational program plan for coverage of the responsibilities while on leave.
- 31.02.08 An Occasional Teacher will be hired to replace a Teacher on a Short Term Leave.

ARTICLE 32 ABSENCE CODES

32.0 A teacher shall be granted a leave of absence with pay and no loss of sick leave credits in respect of absence occasioned by one or another of the circumstances provided hereunder and, when applicable, for the time limit set forth, subject to the following conditions. During the leave a teacher shall continue to accumulate credit for seniority and teaching experience and any other relevant entitlements under this Collective Agreement.

"Immediate Family" shall be deemed to include the Teacher's father, mother, spouse, brother, sister, child, grandparents, grandchildren, corresponding in-laws and the person who stood in Loco Parentis to the Teacher or a person to whom the Teacher stood in Loco Parentis.

32.01 Absence with pay due to illness with deductions from Sick Leave Credit Account, (Code 1)

32.01 .01 Absence through illness of the Teacher for a period of five (5) consecutive working days or less may be certified by the School Principal or by the official of the Board in charge of the appropriate Department.

- 32.01.02 Absence for illness over five (5) consecutive working days must be certified by a licensed medical practitioner or certified by licentiate of dental surgery.
- 32.01.03 Where a Teacher is absent for illness for more than twenty consecutive working days, the Director may require that a certificate be submitted monthly by such medical practitioner or licentiate of dental surgery before the Teacher shall be entitled to payment under the Plan.
- 32.01.03.01 The Director may at any time require that a certificate be submitted by a medical practitioner or licentiate of dental surgery appointed by the Board.
- 32.01.03.02 The Board shall reimburse the Teacher for expenses related to the procurement of any certificate required under Clause 30.01.03.01.
- 32.01.04 Subject to the provisions respecting the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act a credit shall be deducted from a Teacher's sick leave account for each day of absence due to illness or dental condition for which the Teacher's salary is paid, and no salary shall be paid to a Teacher for his/her absence due to illness or dental condition beyond the number of credits in his/her sick leave account except pursuant to a resolution of the Board.
- 32.01.05 Subject to the provisions relating to the Work Place Safety And Insurance Act each Teacher who is absent from duty due to illness or dental condition shall be paid for each day of absence, the salary which he/she would have been entitled to receive for that day to the extent of the credits in his/her account.
- 32.01.06 Teachers may be absent for dental/medical examinations.

32.02 Absence with pay - items not deductible from Sick Leave Credit (Code 2)

Leave with pay and without loss of benefits, experience or seniority shall be granted to a Teacher:

- 32.02.01 for a period of quarantine when declared by the Medical Officer of Health or designate.
- 32.02.02 to serve as a juror or by reason of a subpoena. being a witness in any proceeding to which he/she is not a party to one of the persons charged, provided that the Teacher pays to the Board any fee exclusive of travelling allowances and living expenses that he/she receives as a juror or as a witness.
- for a funeral in the immediate family, up to a maximum of three days for each bereavement; an extension may be granted by permission of the Director.
- 32.02.04 for funerals other than immediate family up to one (1) day for each bereavement.
- 32.02.05 to write the Teacher's post-secondary or university examination.
- for the purpose of attending his or her own graduation, or the graduation of a member of the immediate family.
- 32.02.07 to attend the Teacher's own wedding/weddings in the immediate family for one day only

32.02.08	illness in the immediate family, three (3) days/school year
32.02.09	concerns related to board chemicals (ie. paint)
32.02.10	non-attendance because of inclement weather
32.02.11	attend the birth of a child/grandchild or surrogate child
32.02.12	special circumstances for reasons approved by the Director.

32.03 Absence without Pay - items not deductible from sick leave credits (Code 3)

Up to a maximum of five days per year shall be granted as follows:

32.03.01	Moving to a new place of residence. Leave granted for moving shall not exceed one (1) day					
	in any one year which shall be the actual day of moving.					

- 32.03.02 Weddings other than the Teacher's immediate family. Up to one day only
- 32.03.03 Personal reasons Absence will not be approved immediately preceding or following Christmas or winter breaks except by approval of the Director (or Designate)
- 32.03.04 Special circumstances for reasons approved by the Director.

NOTE: It is understood that the teacher may make application for credit to the Teachers' Pension Plan Board at the teachers own expense.

ARTICLE 33 PREGNANCY AND PARENTAL/ADOPTION LEAVE

33.01 <u>Definitions</u>

33.01 .01	"Parent" includes a natural parent or person with whom a child is placed for adoption and a
	person who is in a relationship of some permanence with a parent of a child and who intends
	to treat the child as his or her own ;

- 33.01.02 "Parental/adoption leave" means leave taken for the care of a child following:
- 33.01.02.01 the birth of the child; or
- 33.01.02.02 the coming of the child into the custody, care and control of a parent for the first time.
- 33.01.03 "Pregnancy leave" means leave taken for purposes related to giving birth and/or recovering therefrom.

33.02 Pregnancy Leave

Pregnancy Leave shall be granted upon written request provided that:

33.02.01 the Teacher provides a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner stating the expected birth date; the Teacher has been in the employ of the Board for a period of at least thirteen (13) weeks 33.02.02 immediately preceding the expected birth date; 33.02.03 the Teacher notifies the Board in writing at least two (2) weeks immediately preceding the date the leave is to begin. 33.02.04 Pregnancy Leave may commence up to seventeen (17) weeks preceding the expected birth date and ends seventeen (17) weeks after the pregnancy leave began if the Teacher is intending-to take parental leave for an additional eighteen (18) weeks. 33.02.05 Nothing in this Article precludes a Teacher from: 33.02.05.01 entitlement to sick leave pay if the Teacher's absence is due to illness arising out of the pregnancy prior to the maternity leave; or 33.02.05.02 the provisions of the Employment Standards Act

33.03 Parental Leave

- A Teacher who has been in the employ of the Board for at least thirteen (13) weeks shall be granted a parental leave without pay of up to eighteen (18) weeks,
- The Teacher must give at least two (2) weeks written notice of the date on which the leave shall commence.
- 33.03.03 The parental leave of a Teacher who takes a pregnancy leave shall begin when the pregnancy leave ends unless the child has not come into the custody, care and control of the parent for the first time.
- Parental leave shall begin no more than thirty-five weeks after the day the child is born or comes into the custody, care and control of the parent for the first time.

33.04 General Provisions for Pregnancy and Parental Leave

- During the thirty-five (35) weeks of pregnancy and/or parental leave the Teacher shall be entitled to all rights, benefits and privileges which would have been received had the Teacher been actively employed, including, but not limited to:
- 33.04.01.01 accumulation of credit for seniority and experience for grid purposes;
- 33.04.01.02 the benefits plan of this Agreement.

33.04.02 Pregnancy and/or parental leave may be extended through Article 30. 33.04.03 Upon return from the pregnancy and/or parental leave the Teacher shall be reinstated to the position the Teacher held prior to the leave if it still exists or to a comparable position if it does not exist subject to the staffing process. (Article 40) 33.04.04 A Teacher on pregnancy and/or parental leave shall be credited with seniority during the leave in the same manner as that credited for any other leave. (Article 40.03) 33.04.05 Sick leave credit accumulated under the Board's plan at the time of commencing the unpaid pregnancy or parental leave shall not be augmented during the period of the leave but shall remain standing to the Teacher's credit upon resumption of teaching service subject to the conditions of the sick leave plan. 33.05 Supplemental Employment Insurance Benefit Plan 33.05.01 The plan is to supplement the Employment Insurance benefits received by Teachers for temporary unemployment caused by Pregnancy and/or Parental Leave. 33.05.02 Teachers must prove that they have applied for and are in receipt of Employment Insurance benefits in order to receive payment under the plan. 33.05.03 The Supplemental Employment insurance Benefit is payable for a period during which a Teacher is not in receipt of Employment Insurance if the only reason for non-receipt is the two week Employment Insurance waiting period the claimant is serving. 33.05.04 The benefit level paid under this plan is set at 100% of the Teacher's allowable Employment Insurance benefit. In any week, the total amount of the Supplemental Employment Insurance Benefit payments 33.05.05 and the weekly rate of Employment Insurance benefits will not exceed 95% of the Teacher's weekly earnings. 33.05.06 This Supplemental Employment Insurance Benefit will be paid for the two (2) week waiting period. 33.05.07 The plan is financed by the employer's general revenues. 33.05.08 Supplemental Employment Insurance Benefit payments will be kept separate from payroll records. 33.05.09 The duration of the plan is for the period covered by the Collective Agreement. 33.05.10 The employer will inform Human Resources Development Canada in writing of any changes to the plan within thirty (30) days of the effective date of the change.

Teachers do not have a right to Supplemental Employment Insurance Benefit payments except for supplementation of Employment Insurance benefits for the unemployment period

33.05.11

as specified in the plan.

33.05.12 Payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits will not be reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

33.06 Return to Employment

A Teacher who is returning from Pregnancy or Parental Leave as defined in the Employment Standards Act, shall give the Board at least one (1) week written notice of the date of return.

33.07 Return to Position

A teacher returning from a pregnancy leave or parental leave shall be assigned to the same position held prior to going on leave, subject to the Transfer and Surplus Process.

33.08 Extended Leave - Board Request

If the Board requests that a teacher extend a pregnancy or parental leave and the teacher consents to the extension, the teacher will be paid full pay and benefits for the duration of the leave.

ARTICLE 34 - SABBATICAL LEAVE

- 34.01 The Board may grant sabbatical leave to a Teacher who has demonstrated a high level of competence in his/her employment and encourages worthy applications therefore. The Board is not obliged to grant such leave and a Teacher is not entitled, as a right, to leave under these regulations.
- 34.02 Sabbatical leave may be granted for the purpose of approved study or activity. The Board reserves the right to determine if such leave is in the best interests of the school system and the Board's decision in this regard is final.
- 34.03 To qualify for a sabbatical leave, a Teacher shall have completed a minimum of five (5) continuous years of full-time service in the employ of The Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board or its predecessor Boards immediately prior to the time of application.
- 34.04 A Teacher desiring sabbatical leave shall apply in writing to the Director, giving reasons and details regarding the purpose of the proposed leave.
- 34.04.01 Prior to making final recommendations to the Board, the Director of Education will meet with Teacher representatives to discuss all applications.
- 34.04.02 Should the applicant so desire, he/she may request a review by the Program and Human Resources Committee.
- 34.05 Application for sabbatical leave must be made not later than November 15th for its beginning, at the earliest, the following September. Applications recommended by the Director of Education shall be placed before the Board for decisions at a January Board Meeting.
- 34.06 Selection of applicants for Sabbatical Leave (in addition to the requirements listed above) are to be based upon:
- 34.06.01 the applicant's stated goals and objectives in the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board and education generally; and

- 34.06.02 the applicant's detailed explanation to show how the requested Sabbatical Leave will achieve those goals and objectives.
- 34.07 Salary and other benefits shall be paid or credited to Teachers granted sabbatical leave while continuing with the purpose of the leave in an amount equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of the Teacher's salary at the date of the commencement of the leave.
 - In addition tuition fees shall be paid by the Board for the purpose agreed upon in granting the leave, but the amount shall not exceed five hundred dollars (\$500.00) and receipts shall be submitted to the Director of Education.
- 34.08 A Teacher granted sabbatical leave shall, before going on such leave, execute an agreement with the Board to remain in the employ of the Board for a minimum of three years following the Teachers return from leave.
- 34.09 A Teacher failing to carry out the purpose for which the leave was granted shall, upon demand:
- 34.09.01 repay the Board the money paid on account of the leave, or,
- on failing to remain in the employ of the Board for the agreed minimum period, shall, upon demand,
- 34.09.03 repay to the Board pro-rata the money paid by the Board on account of the leave.
- 34.09.04 Each case, however, shall be considered individually by the Board and the Board shall take into consideration any circumstances beyond the control of the Teacher.
- 34.10 A Teacher granted sabbatical leave shall receive the normal increment in salary and other benefits for which he/she is eligible. Deductions for Teachers' pension, income tax or other required deductions shall be on the basis of the actual salary paid. Teachers on sabbatical leave shall be responsible for making their own arrangements for any further payments to the Teachers' Pension Plan or to any other pension fund to which they belong.
- 34.11 If sabbatical leave is granted, it shall be granted for one school year (September 1 to August 31) or from September 1 to December 31 or from January 1 to August 31 in the same school year.
- 34.12 If sabbatical leave is granted to an applicant from a semestered school, it may be granted for one semester or for two semesters within the school year.
- 34.13 The number of days credited to a Teacher in the Cumulative Sick Leave Plan shall not be reduced by the granting of sabbatical leave, nor shall the Teacher be entitled to any accumulation of sick leave credits during the period of leave.
- 34.14 The plan shall operate in regard to Teachers.
- 34.15 The number of Teachers granted leave for any year shall not exceed one percent (1%) of the Academic Staff of the Board.
- 34.16 A Teacher on return from leave shall be reinstated to a position commensurate with or superior to

that which he/she vacated in the school of last employment, subject to the Transfer and Surplus policy.

ARTICLE 35 - DEFERRED SALARY LEAVE PLAN (X Over Y)

- 35.01 The Deferred Salary Leave Plan provides Teachers with the opportunity to take a Leave of Absence for a specified period of time and to finance the leave by means of salary deferral.
- 35.02 Any permanent Teacher is eligible to participate in the Plan.
- 35.03 Applications for participation in the Plan should be made in writing to the Superintendent of Human Resources by March 31 of each school year.
- 35.04 Participation in the Plan shall not be unreasonably denied by the employer.
- 35.05 In each year of the Plan preceding the year of leave, a Teacher will be paid a reduced percentage of salary. The remaining percentage, which shall not exceed 33 1/3% of the Teacher's annual salary, will be deferred and shall be retained by the employer to finance the year of leave.
- 35.06 The employer shall deposit the retained percentage of the Teachers' annual salary in an account in the name of the Teacher and shall pay any interest earned to the Teacher each year it is earned. The Board and Union will meet annually and agree on the financial institution to be used.
- 35.07 While a Teacher is participating in the deferral period any benefits tied to salary level shall be based on the salary the Teacher would have received had the Teacher not been participating in the Plan.
- 35.08 During the Teachers leave of absence the employer shall continue to pay its share of premium costs for any benefits which the Teacher elects to maintain. The Teacher shall be responsible for remitting his/her share of applicable premium costs.
- 35.09 During the Teacher's leave of absence the Teacher shall be paid according to the method of payment outlined in the Method of Payment sections of this Collective Agreement.
- 35.10 During the Teachers leave, the teacher should inform ETFO of their e-mail and other addresses and personal communication numbers if they wish to receive information described in the Collective Agreement and/or distributed by the local Union.

35.11 Conditions of Leave

- 35.11 .01 The leave of absence may be for one (1) semester (if in full-time attendance at a designated educational institution) or one (1) year.
- The leave shall commence no later than six (6) years after the date of the first deferral of salary. The DSLP shall be between two years to 7 years length, including the year of the leave.
- 35.11.03 A Teacher may not receive any compensation from the employer during the period of leave other than the deferred salary plan's salary plus accumulated interest.

- A Teacher returning from leave shall remain in the employ of the Board for a period of time at least equal to the period of time that the Teacher was on leave.
- 35.11.05 Deferred salary plus any accumulated interest shall be paid to the participating Teacher not later than the end of the first taxation year after the expiration of the six-year period notice in Article 35.11.02.
- 35.11.06 A Teacher may withdraw from the Plan any time prior to March 1 of the calendar year in which the leave is to be taken, Payment of deferred income plus accumulated interest shall be made to a Teacher withdrawing within sixty (60) days of receipt of the notice of the Teachers wish to withdraw.
- 35. 11.07 Sick leave credits shall not accumulate during the leave period.
- 35.12 During the leave period, Teachers will have the option of having pension deductions made.
- 35.13 Should a Teacher die while participating in the Plan, any monies accumulated, plus interest accrued, at the time of death shall be paid to the Teachers designated beneficiary or alternately, to the Teachers estate.
- 35.14 Teachers participating in the Plan shall be required to sign an agreement with the employer setting out the conditions of the Plan. A copy of the agreement shall be provided to the Union.
- 35.15 On return from leave a Teacher will be assigned the same position held prior to taking leave or to a comparable position in the school of last employment subject to the T&S process.
- 35.16 A Teacher returning from leave shall receive credit for seniority for the period of the leave.

ARTICLE 36 - SUBSIDIZED EDUCATIONAL LEAVE PLAN

- 36.01 The Board may grant to a permanent Teacher in the employ of the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board, a Subsidized Educational Leave.
- 36.02 A Teacher desiring a Subsidized Educational Leave shall apply in writing to the Superintendent of Human Resources, outlining the goals of the leave.
- 36.03 The Superintendent may refuse to recommend the application and advise the Teacher of the reasons, or the Superintendent may endorse the application for consideration by the Director of Education, who may make recommendations to the Board.
- 36.04 The Board's decision in this matter shall be final. The Teacher may request a review through the grievance procedures.
- 36.05 An amount equal to 37.5% of the average secondary Teacher's salary at the date of the commencement of the leave shall be paid to the Teacher granted a Subsidized Educational Leave.
- 36.06 A Teacher granted leave shall, before going on such leave, execute an agreement with the Board to remain in the employ of the Board for a minimum of two (2) years following the Teachers return from the leave.

- 36.07 Leaves shall not be granted for the purpose of upgrading salary. Leaves may be granted so that Teachers may broaden qualifications.
- 36.08 Required deductions, i.e, Teachers' Pension Plan, Income Tax, Employment Insurance will be made on the basis of actual salary paid. The cost of other benefits, i.e. Dental, Life Insurance, etc., will be pro-rated based on percentage of actual salary paid.
- 36.09 Cumulative sick leave shall not be reduced by the granting of the leave nor shall the Teacher be entitled to accumulate sick leave credits during the leave, nor shall the leave period be counted toward calculations for sick leave credit payment.
- 36.10 The leave, should it occur within the five (5) years previous to retirement, will not be considered as disrupting consecutive years of experience.
- 36.11 Applications are to be received on or before January 15.
- 36.12 Applications are to be approved (or not approved) on or before March 1, and the applicant notified in writing by the Director.
- 36.13 Leaves will be administered in such a way that there will be no cost to the Board.

ARTICLE 37 - UNION RELEASE TIME/LEAVE

- 37.01 At the request of the Union, the Board shall grant full-time release time to two full time equivalent persons named by the Union.
- 37.02 The persons named shall be treated for all purposes, including but not limited to the payment of salary, allowances and benefits, and the accumulation of seniority, sick leave and teaching experience, as if working at their normal assignment.
- 37.03 In addition to the persons released in Article 37.01, the Board shall grant further release time from teaching duties for additional members of the Union. The Union shall reimburse the Board for its actual replacement costs if any. The teacher(s) shall continue to accumulate seniority and teaching experience for the period of the leave.
- The Board shall grant a leave of absence to a teacher who holds an office requiring full-time duty at the provincial level, provided that the Union reimburses the Board for the replacement cost of the teacher's total salary and other benefits. The teacher shall continue to accumulate seniority and teaching experience during the period of leave.
- A teacher returning from a Union leave has the right to be reassigned to the same position held prior to going on leave, subject to the Transfer and Surplus procedures.

ARTICLE 38 - SICK LEAVE CREDIT PAYMENT

38.01 A teacher having not less than five (5) consecutive years of contracted service with the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board and its predecessors, immediately preceding cessation of employment, and who ceases to be employed by the Board because of age or who for reasons of ill health acceptable to the Board and who, upon retirement, is entitled to a pension under the Teachers Pension Act shall be eligible to receive a sick leave credit payment based on the following formula:

- 38.01.01 SLCP = $\frac{1}{2}$ of $\frac{CSL}{200} \times S \times \frac{N}{200}$
- 38.01.02 Where SLCP is the amount of sick leave credit payment; CSL is the number of sick days accumulated with this Board or its predecessors, to a maximum of 200 days; S is the employees' salary at the time of retirement; N is the number of school years of service as recognized by this Board and its predecessor Boards to a maximum of 20 years.
- 38.01.03 The salaries of teachers bridging to retirement (described in Article 39) shall be equal to the grid salary including all allowances except for responsibility allowances they would be receiving if they had not been participating in the plan.
- For retiring teachers receiving LTD insurance benefits, the waiting period for insurance purposes shall not be subtracted from the number of cumulative sick days.
- 38.02 A Teacher who has elected to work part-time as prescribed in The Education Act, Section 180 (3), shall be entitled to a sick leave credit payment as if the Teacher were full time.
- 38.03 Where a Teacher is retired compulsorily from the Board's service at the end of the school year in which the Teacher attains the age of 65 years and where because of this the Teacher would not be able to complete the required minimum of five (5) consecutive years of contracted service with the Board, or for other reasons acceptable to the Board, the Director of Education may authorize the granting of a sick leave credit payment in accordance with the other conditions contained in this plan.
- 38.04 In the case of the death of .a Teacher prior to retirement, his/her estate shall be entitled to a payment equal to the number of sick leave credits accumulated at the date of death to a maximum of one-half year's earnings at the rate received by the Teacher immediately prior to his/her death.

ARTICLE 39 - VOLUNTARY EARLY LEAVING PROGRAM

- 39.01 The Board may operate a Voluntary Early Leaving Program (as described in Appendix 1) or such other plan as may be developed in the event that it appears a potential redundancy problem exists. (The Board must be satisfied that any plan offered is financially viable).
- 39.02 Teachers who have applied and have been accepted into the Voluntary Early Leaving Program as described in previous Board Collective Agreements and plans, will be considered to be covered by these plans for the life of their individual agreements. These individual agreements may be modified at the request of either party with mutual consent. Improvements in salary and benefits will be considered to be amendments to these agreements.

ARTICLE 40 - SENIORITY, TEACHERS AVAILABLE for TRANSFER, SURPLUS and RECALL

TRANSFER AND SURPLUS PROCESS 40.01 DEFINITIONS

40.01 .01 <u>School Group (SG)</u> - The School Group is a group of Elementary schools which send students to a Secondary School, and other schools which are grouped together for geographical and organizational reasons, and Special Schools in the School Group area

- 40.01.02 <u>Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> from a school after the application of the staffing formula indicates that a reduction of staff is necessary. District School Board seniority listing and a consideration of program needs, as described below, will be used to determine if a position for that teacher will no longer be available within the school. In accordance with the following, the teacher named TAT will be transferred to another school. Being TAT from a school does not necessarily mean that a teacher is redundant. Redundancy is determined using the Surplus to System criteria.
- 40.01.03 <u>Brokers</u> Each School Group Principals' Cabinet will appoint one representative to serve as the School Group representative on the Elementary Teacher Placement Committee (ETPC). This representative shall represent all school staffing needs declared within the School Group (SG).
- 40.01.04

 District School Board Union Representatives The Union will name the President and Union members to the Elementary Teacher Placement Committee (ETPC) and to the Transfer and Surplus Standing Committee. The President shall decide which School Group(s) each representative shall represent. Each representative shall represent all teachers declared Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) in that School Group and Surplus to the System (STS). The School Group Union Representative will be included in the School Group declaration concerning Teacher(s) Available for Transfer (TAT).
- 40.01.05 <u>Elementary Teacher Placement Committee</u> This Committee is composed of: The Joint Staffing Committee Eight School Group Brokers (40.01.03)

Eight School Group Union Reps. (40.01.04
The Elementary Teacher Placement Committee (ETPC) is responsible for t

The Elementary Teacher Placement Committee (ETPC) is responsible for the placement of teachers, deemed to be <u>Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> and <u>Surplus to the System</u>.

- 40.01.06 Panel The collective body of elementary teachers in the Hastings and Prince Edward D.S.B. is referred to as a panel.
- 40.01.08 <u>School Group Principals' Cabinet</u> All Elementary principals within a School Group area, and the School Group Superintendent.
- 40.01.09 Pink Sheets Internal advertising for available teaching positions.
- 40.01.11 School This refers to any elementary school in which there are classrooms in the Hastings & Prince Edward District School Board. For the purposes of this agreement, William R. Kirk and the Board office are treated as Elementary schools.
- 40.01.12 <u>School Union Representatives</u> The CBC Steward & ETFO School Rep, will be present at the determination of Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT) within their schools.

- 40.01.13 School Year The year as defined in the Collective Agreement.
- 40.01.14 <u>Seniority</u> As of April 9, 1998, seniority shall be determined using total Elementary annualized teaching experience with the Board and its predecessors, while a member of the Union, When seniority is calculated, June 30 of the current school year will be used. Ties in years of seniority will be broken using the amended criteria as described below.
- 40.01.15 <u>Staffing Formula</u> -The negotiated methods which are recognized for calculating the number of teachers on staff in Hastings & Prince Edward District School Board.
- 40.01.16 <u>Surplus to the System</u> (STS)- A teacher may be declared <u>Surplus to the System</u> in the Elementary panel when the number of Full Time Equivalent (FTE) teachers under contract exceeds the number of Full Time Equivalent (FTE) positions available, after application of the staffing formulas and other Board staffing needs. These teachers will generally have the least teaching experience in Hastings & Prince Edward District School Board.
- 40.01.17 <u>Teacher</u> This refers to a member of the Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario who is employed by The Hastings & Prince Edward District School Board under this Collective Agreement.

40.02 SENIORITY FOR ELEMENTARY UNION MEMBERS

40.02.01 Seniority Determinant:

Seniority for Elementary Union members of the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board will be determined using Total Elementary annualized teaching experience with the Board and its predecessors, while a member of the Union. When seniority is calculated, June 30 of the current school year will be used.

40.02.02 <u>Accuracy of Draft List</u>:

The draft seniority list will form the basis for the master seniority list for the Elementary Union members in any subsequent determination. Staff with the same number of years seniority will remain tied until tie-breaking is applied to sections of the list, as described below.

40.02.0.3 <u>Verification by Staff:</u>

Annually, copies of the draft master seniority list will be distributed to schools and other designated locations where Union members work, A period of two weeks will be allowed from receipt of the list for members to check for errors and report these to the Human Resources Department in writing, stating the nature of the error, and providing supporting documentation to justify their claim, where possible. All staff must assume responsibility for accuracy of their own information at this stage to ensure correct placement on the list Principals will ensure that all staff have reviewed the list and will contact all staff, including those teachers on Approved Leaves to confirm their access to the list. In the event that a staff member cannot be contacted during the two-week period, the Human Resources Department will make a tentative confirmation of seniority, subject to contacting the member. The Human Resources Department and the President or designate will review the placement concerns and a representative of the Human Resources Department will reply in writing regarding the determination of the members years of seniority.

40.02.04 Ties:

The tie-breaking process, as described, will continue to be applied to successive levels of the seniority list until all staff are correctly placed on the list. This should be completed annually prior to January 31. Once correctly located on the Master Seniority List, a person's relative seniority should not change while a Union member, except as described in the Collective Agreement.

- 40.02.05.0 <u>Tie-Breakinn of Seniority Years of Experien</u>ce will be applied for Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board Staff using the following criteria:
- 40.02.05.1 Total Elementary annualized teaching experience with the Board and its predecessors, while a member of the Union.
- 40.02.05.2 Total continuous Elementary teaching experience, as recognized by the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board and its predecessor by start (actual) date.
- 40.02.05.3 Total years of Elementary teaching experience in Ontario.
- 40.02.05.4 Total length of teaching experience as is recognized by the Board for payroll purposes, (See 10.06 to determine teaching experience criteria. Total teaching experience for seniority purposes may pierce grid maximum years of experience).
- 40.02.05.5 Category rating in descending order from Category A4 to Category A until tie-breaking is complete. Staff will then remain on the seniority list using Category rating criteria, but will not be allowed to improve their seniority ranking if their QECO rating is improved. New staff hired after August 31, 1998 will not be ranked according to this criteria.
- 40.02.05.6 Any ties which still remain will be broken by lot, by the Director or designate in the presence of the Union President who will attest to the order of names selected (first chosen will be above others in this tied category). A written, signed record will be kept in descending order for validation purposes.

40.03 SENIORITY CREDIT PROCEDURES

- 40.03.01 Teachers under contract shall receive a full year seniority credit for each year under contract. Seniority credit does not necessarily equate to placement on the salary grid.
- 40.03.02 Where the Board grants a part-time leave of absence to a teacher on permanent contract teaching full-time, the teacher will receive full year seniority credit.

NOTE: These leaves will be processed as "reductions in teaching time" for administrative reasons but approved by the Board as part-time leaves of absence thereby allowing them to be considered "leaves at a reduced rate" for superannuation purposes.

- 40.03.03 Teachers who teach part-time or full-time and who are granted full leaves of absence will receive full year seniority credit. After five (5) consecutive years, leaves may continue to be granted but no seniority will accrue.
- 40.03.04 Teachers who are requesting part-time leaves of absence will receive the leave from

the school in which they are placed by the Transfer and Surplus (T & S) process, and upon return from the leave will be placed at that school, subject to the Transfer and Surplus (T & S) process.

- 40.03.05 Teachers on permanent contracts requesting full year leaves of absence for the full amount of their contract time will receive the leave from the school at which they are presently teaching and upon return from the leave will be placed at that school, subject to the Transfer and Surplus (T & S) process.
- 40.03.06 Leaves of Absence will be rescinded if the teacher's contract is terminated due to a surplus of teachers as outlined in these Transfer and Surplus (T & S) processes
- 40.03.07 Teachers granted maternity or paternity leaves will receive full seniority credit for the duration of the leave.
- 40.03.08 Teachers filling a Long Term Disability (L.T.D) vacancy for a period of time which is greater than one full teaching year shall be granted seniority credit for the full teaching period.

40.04 DETERMINING TEACHER(S) AVAILABLE FOR TRANSFER (TAT) FROM A SCHOOL

40.04.01 TAT Procedures at School Level

The determination of <u>Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> in each school will follow these procedures:

- 40.04.02 The Superintendent(s) responsible for Staffing shall apply a staffing formula as negotiated to determine the staffing allocation to each school for the next school year. Staffing allocations will be reviewed by the Joint Staffing Committee prior to being sent out to each school.
- If a reduction of staff is required, the Principal, with the two school Union Representatives, shall apply the seniority and tie-breaking criteria (see above) to the current school staff list to determine the teacher(s) with least system seniority in the school (see 40.02.05) To decide which of these teachers will be <u>Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> from the school, the criteria from 40.05 will be used. Vacancies should be determined if possible, at this time.
- 40.04.04 The Principal, in the presence of the appropriate School Union Representatives, shall inform potential Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT) immediately following this meeting. The T.A.T. member will be given a Transfer Form at this time to complete.
- 40.04.05 Principals, School Group Superintendents, and District School Board Union Representatives shall hold School Group Cabinet meetings to confirm those TAT positions identified in section 4.04,03. A School Group TAT list will be forwarded to the Human Resources Department after these meetings. Following the School Group Cabinet meeting, District School Board Union Representatives will collect completed Transfer Forms from the appropriate Principal for identified T.A.T. School Group

members. District School Board Union Representatives will make every effort to contact the identified T.A.T. members from their respective school group.

40.04.06 After staffing is confirmed, the Principal shall promptly forward any vacancies within a school to Human Resources to be advertised internally in the form of "Pink Sheets".

40.05 Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) Criteria at the School Level

- 40.05.01 If there is a need for a reduction in the number of staff in a school, Union members may not place themselves on the <u>Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> list except as in 40.05.02 to 40.05.03.
- 40.05.02 A teacher teaching in more than one school, who is declared Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) from only one school will have the following options:
- 40.05.02.01 Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) from all schools;
- 40.05.02.02 Maintain the assignment in the school(s) from which the teacher was not declared Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) if the Elementary Teacher Placement Committee (ETPC) can locate a compatible position for the Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) amount.
- Where a school has to reduce staff by a fraction of a position, a teacher who is declared Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) will have the option of remaining for the balance of the teaching assignment available or of going <u>Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> for the full extent of their contract.
- Teachers engaged in special teaching programs for which additional Ministry certification is required, may be excluded from the Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) list only if present more experienced staff are not qualified, or could not or would not qualify, to provide such special instruction before the program begins. Every effort will be made to allow teachers teaching in specialty areas to benefit from a change in assignment. Teachers would be required to teach seven (7) years in the specialty area before qualifying for consideration of a change in assignment.

NOTE: The above exemption must be initiated by the specialty teacher involved. The teacher must apply annually, in writing, to the Principal, copy to the Superintendent, requesting exemption from teaching a special program (see above) and outlining the reasons for this request. The Principal and appropriate Superintendent will determine if the exemption will be granted. Such an exemption may result in that teacher becoming Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT).

- 40.05.05 All <u>Teachers Available for Transfer</u> will complete a Transfer Form which describes their teaching qualifications, their geographic choices and their teaching preferences [see 40.14.01 Hastings and Prince Edward D.S.B. Information Form].
- 40.05.06 A teacher will be removed from their school's Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) List if a change in enrolment or teaching strength occurs at that school level that creates a

vacancy. This is based upon seniority/tie-breaking if more than one teacher is TAT at that school level.

40.06 Procedures for Determining Teachers who are Surplus to System (STS)

- In the Elementary panel, the seniority list of all teachers with their teaching experience will be compiled and distributed to each school and to the Union President. All teacherscovered by this Collective Agreement and appropriate administrative personnel will have access to the seniority list. In each school, this list will be kept with the School Staffing Committee minutes when not in use by the members.
- 40.06.02 If a surplus of staff is indicated, based upon the number of Full Time Equivalent (FTE) teachers under contract exceeding the number of Full Time Equivalent (FTE) positions available, the Superintendent of Human Resources will prepare lists for the Elementary panel which identify:
 - (a) the names and qualifications of Teachers who may be <u>Teachers Available for</u> Transfer (TAT) in their schools; and
 - (b) names, seniority and qualifications of teachers with the least Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board seniority. This information will be verified by the Joint Staffing Committee. This is a list of teachers who may be <u>Surplus to the System</u> (STS).
- 40.06.03 This process is to be completed as early as possible between January 31 and April 30 or other date as agreed to by the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 40.06.04 The Joint Staffing Committee may consider Voluntary Mobility transfers at this time to help reduce TAT at the school level. (See Article 18).

40.07 <u>Elementary Teacher Placement Process - Offers and Placements to TAT & STS Teachers</u>

- 40.07.01 At the School Group Principals' Cabinet meeting, where the TAT declarations are to be made, the designated District School Board Union Representative will be present. A needs and/or surplus summary based on all available information, including Teacher Information Forms (40.14.01), will be prepared and copies of this summary shall be sent to the Union President.
- 40.07.02 Each School Group Principals' Cabinet shall appoint a Broker to represent school staffing needs within its School Group. Surplus staff identified as a system responsibility at the Education Centre shall be represented by the Union President. The Education Centre is considered to be a school. The Union Representatives shall represent each Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT) within the School Group or school.
- 40.07.03 The Elementary Teacher Placement Committee (ETPC) will hold its first meeting at the call of the Superintendent of Human Resources at the earliest possible date.
- 40.07.04 The Elementary Teacher Placement Committee (ETPC) shall receive the Transfer

Forms and attempt to reassign those Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT) to positions for which they are, or would become, qualified, on the basis of seniority, with consideration to geography, academic and personal preferences.

- 40.07.05 OFFERS: Teachers who are <u>Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> and <u>Surplus to the System (STS)</u> may be offered more than one position. Staff may agree to an offer to relocate to a new school. Rejection of an offer does not jeopardize the teacher's position on the TAT or STS lists and other offers may be made at a later time in the placement process.
- 40.07.06

 PLACEMENTS: A formal placement in a position occurs when the Committee feels that a match between a TAT or STS teacher and the available position has been made. If a teacher rejects a position in which the teacher is placed, and for which the teacher is qualified, then the teacher will not be placed until all other Elementary teachers have been considered in the placement process, This teacher will be added to the Recall List and may be offered other teaching opportunities as they become available, or during the Interpanel Placement of Elementary Teachers in Secondary Vacancies process(see below) or as a result of the Recall Procedures and Process (see below). Priority for these subsequent offers and placements will be by seniority, as described below.
- 40.07.07

 OTHER TYPES OF TRANSFERS: Administrative Reassignments and Voluntary Mobility Transfers may be reviewed in conjunction with this process to redeploy other staff into known positions. This may result in other placement opportunities for TAT and STS staff, since other types of transfers may create different positions to be considered. (See Article 18).
- 40.07.08 GEOGRAPHICAL CONSIDERATION: A formal TAT placement into a position will be no more than 40 km from the previous school to the new school(s) unless no other positions are available within that distance. The ETPC will also attempt to make STS placements within a 40 km distance from the previous school(s). Placements and offers in excess of 40 km may be considered by the ETPC if the new position does not increase the driving distance from the teacher's home.
- 40.07.09 Contact regarding the placement of staff from the <u>Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> list and the <u>Surplus to the System (STS)</u> list shall be made by the Union Representative. This placement must be accepted or rejected within twenty-four hours of notification (exclusive of weekends).
- 40.07.10 All parties will accept the placement decisions of the Elementary Teacher Placement Committee (ETPC), subject to interpretation by the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 40.07.11 A teacher declared <u>Teacher Available for Transfer (TAT)</u> shall be removed from consideration if a subsequent vacancy occurs in his/her school for which he or she is qualified, or would become qualified to teach.
- 40.07.12 Teachers placed during the Teachers Available for Transfer (TAT) process shall be notified in writing by the Director or designate.
- 40.07.13 The Human Resources Department will inform the Union President prior to the first day

of school in September of teacher placements made during July and August and those teachers who remain Surplus to the System.

40.08 Interpanel Placement of Elementary Teachers in Secondary Vacancies

- 40.08.01 Elementary teachers who are qualified to teach in the secondary panel and who are surplus to the elementary panel, will be considered for any available secondary vacancies. O.S.S.T.F. and the Board will jointly decide the point at which Elementary teachers can be considered.
- 40.08.02 Secondary principals will identify vacancies and describe the subject and qualification requirements for each position,
- 40.08.03 A Placement Committee made up of representatives of the Elementary and Secondary Unions, the Human Resources Department and the Secondary principals will consider the available vacancies and the list of surplus teachers, in seniority order, to determine if any teachers can be "matched" to positions.
- 40.08.04 In cases where people and positions are determined to be compatible, an offer will be made to the surplus elementary teacher.
- 40.08.05 A refusal of an offer by an elementary teacher will not be considered a rejection under the terms specified under the Elementary Collective Agreement.
- 40.08.06 Acceptance of an offer to teach in a secondary school program by an elementary teacher will be subject to the following conditions:
- 40.08.07 The teaching position is for a one year period only and may only be extended by mutual consent of the teacher, the principal and the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation.
- 40.08.08 The teacher will retain his/her elementary Union affiliation for up to two years. Union dues shall be paid to the respective Union.
- 40.08.09 The teacher will annually accrue one year of seniority on the elementary seniority list.
- 40.08.10 The teacher will return to the elementary staff through the pink-sheet process or be placed by the Elementary Teacher Placement Committee as a "system responsibility". The Broker for any teachers returning to the Elementary Panel will be the Superintendent of Human Resources.

40.09 <u>Interpanel Placement of Secondary Teachers in Elementary Vacancies</u>

No interpanel placement of Teachers can take place until all Elementary Teachers Available for Transfer and Elementary Teachers Surplus to the System have been placed or have been offered the position and rejected the position. Provided that the Elementary Panel has vacancies after part-time teachers have been offered an increase in entitlement and the Secondary Panel has qualified Teachers Surplus to the System, these procedures are followed.

- 40.09.01 Secondary teachers who are, or would become qualified to teach in the Elementary panel, and who are surplus to the Secondary Panel, will be considered for any available Elementary vacancies, These Secondary Teachers will fill out a Transfer Information Form for use in the interpanel meeting. The Joint Staffing Committee will decide the point at which Secondary Teachers can be considered.
- 40.09.02 Elementary principals will identify vacancies and describe the subject and qualification requirements for each position.
- An Interpanel Placement Committee will be formed with representatives of the Elementary and Secondary Unions, the Human Resources Department and Elementary Principal Brokers who have School Group vacancies. This Interpanel Placement Committee will consider the available vacancies and the list of surplus Secondary teachers, in seniority order, to determine if any teachers can be "matched" to positions.
- 40.09.04 If people and positions are determined to be compatible, an offer will be made to the surplus Secondary Teacher.
- 40.09.05 A Secondary teacher who refuses an offer of an Elementary transfer will not be considered to have made a rejection under the terms specified under the Secondary Collective Agreement.
- 40.09.06 Acceptance of an offer to teach in an Elementary school program by a Secondary Teacher will be subject to the following conditions:
- 40.09.07 The teaching position is for a one year period only and may only be extended by mutual consent of the Teacher and the Joint Staffing Committee at the subsequent year's Interpanel Placement meeting (40.09).
- 40.09.08 The teacher will retain his/her Secondary Federation affiliation during the year of Interpanel placement.
- 40.09.09 The Secondary Teacher in the Elementary position may accrue one year of seniority on the Secondary seniority list, subject to that Collective Agreement. If the Secondary teacher applies for a vacancy in the Elementary panel and is hired in a subsequent year, the teacher may apply for Elementary seniority credit (40.13).
- 40.09.10 The Teacher will return to the Secondary staff through the pink-sheet process or be placed by the Secondary Staffing Committee.
- 40.09.11 Membership affiliation of a Teacher transferred into the Elementary Panel is governed by Ontario Teachers' Federation (OTF) policy.
- 40.09.12 This process must be completed by August 31.

40.10 Reassessment of Interpanel Placements

Separate meetings of each panel's placement group will be held to assess the process up to that date. All moves made to date are reviewed with every effort being made to incorporate geographic location, qualifications and personal desires in that review.

At this time, all teachers successfully/unsuccessfully placed are officially notified by the Director or designate.

40.11 Teachers Surplus to the System and Termination Letters

- 40.11.01 Determination of the number of teachers who are potentially Surplus to the System (STS) will be made by the Director or designate, following input from the Joint Staffing Committee.
- 40.11.02 Teachers who are potentially Surplus to the System (STS) will be notified in writing by the Director or designate. After June 30th of the contract year, these Teachers who have not been placed will be declared redundant, will receive termination letters and will be placed on the Recall List, as described below.
- 40.11.03 Any teachers who remain Surplus to the System (STS) at the end of the entire placement process shall be the teachers with the least seniority, subject to qualifications.
- Termination Letters Resulting from These Procedures: -After the Transfer and Surplus (T & S) process is complete, all teachers on contract with The Hastings and Prince Edward D.S.B. whose contracts with the Board are terminated as a result of the procedures outlined in this process will receive a suitable letter signed by the Director of Education explaining the reasons for their termination. August 31 is the official termination date.

40.12 Recall Process and Procedures

- 40.12.01 All teachers on contract and declared redundant to the Elementary panel will be given Right of Recall for a period of two years from the end of the contract year in which they are declared redundant.
- 40.12.02 All teachers, whose contracts are terminated due to redundancy, will be given Recall Rights in accordance with the Employment Standards Act.
- 40.12.03 Staff who have accumulated more than two years of service with the Board are entitled to a severance allowance if they are declared redundant. The amount of severance pay is based on a one time payment of 4% of that person's grid salary for all teachers who are declared redundant. Acceptance of a severance allowance ends the Board's obligation to that person.
- 40.12.04 All teachers on the Recall List have the right to purchase benefits under the Board's group plan at no cost to the Board.

- 40.12.05 A staff member must accept or reject a formal offer-of a teaching position within a period of 24 hours from the time of the formal offer. This time excludes weekends.
- 40.12.06 During the recall period the employee will accumulate seniority credit.
- First priority will be given to teachers on the Recall List for inclusion on the Occasional Teachers (O.T.) List when O.T. vacancies occur. This does not eliminate any Rights of Recall during the Recall period. The Board will not fill subsequent O.T. list openings until the Transfer and Surplus process determines whether there are teachers on the Recall List who have not had an opportunity to join the O.T. List.
- 40.12.08 Every attempt will be made to avoid dividing positions to reach the amount of contractual entitlement.
- 40.12.09 The Human Resources Officer (Teaching Staff), and the Superintendent of Human Resources or designate will be responsible for maintaining the Recall List and making contact regarding vacancies.
- 40.12.18 Principals will contact the Human Resources Department as soon as they have any information regarding vacancies, leaves, retirements or other openings. The Human Resources Officer (Teaching Staff), or designate, will contact staff on the Recall List concerning acceptance of the position. Seniority and qualifications will be the only criteria for selection, in accordance with the following considerations:
- 40.12.11 Conditions for offering a position to contract staff on the Recall List:
 - 40.12.11.01 QUALIFICATIONS: Staff must be qualified to teach the subject(s)/levels. Staff may agree to become qualified in the summer or during the year. (See Retraining and Professional Upgrading)
 - 40.12.11.02 <u>GEOGRAPHICAL CONSIDERATION</u>: A position should be no more than 40 km from the previous school to the new school(s) unless no positions are available within that distance. Offers in excess of 40 km may be considered if the new position does not increase the driving distance from the teacher's home.
 - AVAILABILITY: Up to June 30th of each year, vacancies that occur after the final placement meeting will be filled from the Recall List. No calls will be made for vacancies which occur after June 30 until the period of August 20 28. At this time, every attempt will be made to fill vacancies with people on the Recall List. After September 1st, vacancies will be filled as they occur. Staff will make every effort to remain available for recall by the Board during the period of redundancy. (Telephone, fax, E-mail, web, pager, and summer/home addresses, which are appropriate, should be on file with the Board.) In the event that the Board makes a reasonable effort (two attempts on each of two consecutive working days) to contact the staff member and is unable to do so, the Board will move to the next name on the list. This is not considered a rejection by the staff member.

40.12.11.04 CONTRACTUAL ENTITLEMENT:

The Board will attempt to match the teaching load (percent of the teaching day or year) for which the redundancy occurred, to the job offer.

40.12.11.05

Acceptance of a teaching assignment for a percentage which is less than the actual entitlement, may occur. Prior to the beginning of the school year, staff who have accepted an offer of a position for a reduced teaching load, will be given the opportunity to increase their teaching assignment to that for which they are entitled if new positions become available. After the beginning of the school year, the Board will offer increases in teaching assignment to this person if program and geographical considerations allow this to happen. Teachers who fill a partial vacancy will continue to be considered for up to two years for the portion of their contractual entitlement not filled. Refusal of a position less than the teacher's contractual entitlement does not constitute a formal rejection.

40.12.11.06

No interruption of service will be considered to have occurred when an offer is accepted. Seniority is accumulated while on the Recall List.

40.12.11.07

When all redundant staff have been recalled in accordance with the above, part-time staff who would like to increase their assignment back to full time will be allowed to do so as openings/vacancies occur. This may occur for part or full year duration and must be with mutual consent. Part-time staff, who have letters of intent to increase their teaching percentage on file with the Board, will be considered during this process if there are no staff on the Recall List who can or will accept the identified position.

40.12.11.08

REJECTING AN OFFER: - One offer may be rejected by that person for PROGRAM or PERSONAL reasons. First rejection of a position does not change the staff member's order on the redundancy list. Should a second offer be rejected, the Board will have no further obligation to the Teacher.

40.12.11.09

VOLUNTARY EARLY LEAVING PROGRAM (V.E.L.P.) VACANCIES: Openings that are created by Union members who take part in the Board's Early Retirement Incentive/Early Leave/Exit Plans, can be filled by redundant staff in accordance with these conditions.

40.12.11.10

NEWVACANCIES for Recall and Part Time Teachers: -A vacancy that occurs as a result of any new or continuing leave, retirement or resignation by another member covered by this Collective Agreement, will be offered to staff on the Recall List and other part-time staff who wish to increase their teaching load, in accordance with the Collective Agreement.

A vacancy may be for part of a year. In this case, the "Recall" staff

member will return to the Recall List. Other staff will return to previous contractual entitlement, or to another position as agreed prior to transfer.

40.13 <u>Seniority Review</u>

Secondary/Elementary teachers who apply for bonafide elementary/secondary teaching positions will have their seniority reviewed by the Joint Staffing Committee, upon request, for the purpose of making a recommendation to Human Resources regarding the allowance of maintaining seniority in the new panel.

40.14 The <u>HASTINGS AND PRINCE EDWARD DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD INFORMATION FORM</u> will be completed on request when teachers are being considered for transfer to other locations. This form is intended to help provide relevant information concerning teaching strengths and geographical and career preferences when TAT, STS, Mobility and other transfers are being considered. The Joint Staffing Committee may amend the form to help the committee match educational needs with teacher strengths and goals.

TAT	√	STS	√	Mobility	√			
Name:				Date:	<u> </u>			
Principal:	Principal: Contractual Entitlement: Current School:							
Home Communi	Home Community: Home Phone No.:							
Next Years Probable Teaching Assignment:								
Previous Teachi	Previous Teaching Assignments:							
Grade Level Qu	ualifications:							
Number of Continuous Years Teaching in Hastings and Prince Edward DSB:								
Number of Years	s Total Teaching	Experience in H	astings and Prince	Edward DSB:				
Qualifications (in	clude courses no	ot used for Cate	gory Placement):					
Teaching Assign	nment Preference	es (Grade/Subjec	t Area):					
Most Desired	d: 1st:							
	2nd:							
	3rd:							
Geographic Loc	cation Preference1	st:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
	,	2nd:						
	3rd:							
Other Pertinent	Data:							
Broker:	bker: Broker's School:				<u> </u>			
Signature of Te	eacher:		District School Boa	ard Union Rep:				
The personal information contained on this form has been collected under the authority of the Education Act, R.S.O. 1980, c.129, as amended, and will be used to determine staff assignments, exchanges and transfers in accordance with the Collective Agreement; and will be used to prepare personnel and staff records. If you have any questions about this form, please call the Human Resources Department at 966-1170 or your Union President.								

ARTICLE 41 - OCTOBER ENROLMENT IMBALANCES

- **11.1 The Joint** Staffing Committee will meet no later than the first week of October each year to identify surplus staff and vacancies in schools.
- 41.2 Principals will report to their respective Superintendents and they in turn will provide the data to the Joint Staffing Committee for this meeting.
- 41.3 No later than October 15th all schools in a surplus staff position will be provided with an information meeting that includes Union representation and a Superintendent. Vacancies in the system will be declared at that time. The intent of the meeting will be to answer questions and encourage staff to consider voluntary mobility in order to address surplus staffing in their respective schools.
- 41.4 Staff in schools with surplus teachers will, decide on voluntary mobility no later than October 18th. They will declare in writing their intent, including the vacancy they are interested in, to the Joint Staffing Committee. Principals will then forward these letters to the Standing Committee for consideration and placement.
- 41.5 If voluntary mobility does not solve the surplus problem, then the staff identified in the lowest 25% group for District School Board seniority and the best fit for available positions will be declared by the Joint Staffing Committee. ("Best Fit" is defined as contractual entitlement, qualifications and geography.)
- 41.6 Part-time teachers may increase their contractual entitlement at this time providing there are no staff on the recall list who can or will accept the identified vacancy.
- 41.7 Redundant teachers filling a vacancy continued into a new school year will return to the same position on the recall list if the teacher on leave returns during that year.
- 41.8 All teachers involved in the voluntary mobility process will have the opportunity to be considered at their original school or at their new school for Transfer and Surplus purposes in the following year. These teachers must indicate their intention in writing by March 1st of the present school year to the Human Resources Officer, Teaching Staff.

ARTICLE 42 - PART-TIME ASSIGNMENTS -

Definition of Teacher on Part-Time Assignment

42.01 A teacher on part-time assignment is a teacher employed on a regular basis for other than full-time duty.

42.02 Part-Time Leave

- A non-probationary teacherwith a full-time assignment who, prior to May 1, requests a part-time leave commencing the following school year shall have the request granted.
- b) A non-probationary teacher who requests and is granted a part-time leave for a specified **period**

- will return to a full-time assignment at the end of the leave period.
- A non-probationary teacher may apply prior to May 1 for an extension of the teacher's part-time leave and such extension shall be granted.
- d) On return to a full-time assignment, the teacher has the right to continue to be a member of the staff of the school in which the teacher had a part-time assignment, subject to the lay-off procedures in Article 40.

Salary and Allowances

42.03 A teacher on part-time assignment shall be paid according to the salary schedule and allowances in this Collective Agreement, pro-rated unless otherwise specified in this agreement.

Experience Credit

- 42.04 A teacher on part-time assignment shall receive credit for teaching experience on the following basis:
- a) less than .5 assignment or less than one-half school year: one-half year credit.
- b) .5 assignment or more, or one-half school year or more: one full year credit.

Seniority

42.05 For purposes of seniority, a teacher on part-time assignment shall be deemed to be on full-time assignment.

Preparation Time

42.06 A teacher on part-time assignment shall be assigned preparation time pro-rated within the scheduled working day.

Scheduling of Assignments

42.07 In assigning duties to a teacher on part-time assignment, the Board shall schedule assignments consecutively during the part of the working day during which the teacher has agreed to teach. The Board may schedule assignments non-consecutively only with the consent of the teacher and the Joint Staffing Committee.

Requests for Increase in Assignment

42.08 Upon initial hiring, and on the annual commencement of each part-time teachers school year, the Board will provide a written summary of the process required to be considered for an increase in assignment.

Part-time teachers who have letters of intent to increase their teaching entitlement on file with the Human Resources Department will be considered for increases in teaching time. (See Article 5; 41.6)

42.09 If no increase in teaching time is recommended the rationale for the decision shall be given to the teacher concerned by the Board.

Part-time teachers are free to accept a new or increased position, during the period of time between the completion of the Transfer and Surplus (T & S) process and the conclusion of any final reorganization of staff or classes in September. Acceptance of an increased contractual position must have the approval of the Superintendent.

ARTICLE 43 - CHANGES IN ORGANIZATION AND METHODS

Advance Notice of Planned Changes

- 43.01 At least 90 days prior to the introduction or implementation of any planned changes in organization including the reorganization of schools and classrooms, changes in methods of school operation, or changes in teaching methods affecting teachers, the Board shall make every endeavor to advise the Union of the planned change or changes. Such prior notice shall contain full and relevant information respecting:
- a) The nature and the degree of the change or changes.
- b) The date or dates on which the Board plans to effect the change or changes.
- The location or locations involved.

ARTICLE 44 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

Definition of Grievance

44.0 Any dispute involving the application, administration, interpretation or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, may be the subject of a grievance, and an effort shall be made to settle such a grievance fairly and promptly in the following manner.

Individual Grievance

STEP 1

44.01 Grievance(s) must be submitted in writing to the appropriate Superintendent or designate. Within 10 (ten) school days of receipt of the grievance a meeting will be held with the grievor, a Union representative and the Superintendent or designate. The Superintendent or designate shall respond to the grievance in writing within 10 (ten) school days of the meeting.

STEP 2

44.02 If no settlement is reached, the grievance shall be filed in writing to the Director of Education within 10 (ten) school days from the response from the Superintendent or designate. Within 5 (five) school days of receipt of the grievance a meeting will be held with the Director of Education. A written response will be provided to the Union from the Director of Education within 5 (five) school days of the meeting.

STEP 3

44.03 If no settlement is reached, the Union may submit the grievance to arbitration within 10 (ten) school days of receipt of the response.

Time Lines

44.04 Grievance time lines may be extended by mutual consent of the parties.

Arbitration time lines are not extendable.

Arbitration

44.05 When either party requests that a grievance be submitted to a single arbitrator, the request shall be conveyed in writing to the other party to the agreement, indicating the name of the arbitrator. Within 5 (five) school days thereafter, the other party shall respond in writing indicating their agreement of arbitrator or suggesting another name. If the parties fail to agree upon an arbitrator, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour of Ontario upon the request of either party.

Decision of the Arbitrator

44.06 An arbitrator shall give a decision within 30 (thirty) calendar days after the hearing on the matters submitted to arbitration is concluded. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the Parties and upon any employee or employees affected by it.

Board of Arbitration

44.07 When both Parties agree, a grievance may be submitted to a board of arbitration. Notification shall be provided in writing to the other party to the agreement indicating the name of an appointee to an arbitration board. The recipient of the notice shall within 5 (five) school days inform the other party of the name of its appointee to the arbitration board. The 2 (two) so selected shall, within 5 (five) days of the appointment of the second of them, appoint a third person who shall be the chair. If the 2 (two) appointees fail to agree upon a chair within the fixed time limits, an appointment as arbitrator shall be made by the Minister of Labour of Ontario upon the request of either Party.

If either Party fails to appoint a nominee to the arbitration board, the other Party may request the Minister of Labour to refer the grievance to a single arbitrator.

Powers of the Board of Arbitration

- 44.08 An arbitrator or an arbitration board, as the case may be, has the powers of an arbitrator or arbitration board under the Labour Relations Act and, in addition, has the power
 - to extend the time for the taking of any step in the grievance or arbitration procedures, including the submission to arbitration, notwithstanding the expiration of such time, where in its discretion considers it proper to do so;
 - to grant such interim orders, including interim relief, as the arbitrator or arbitration board considers proper, including interim reinstatement; and,
 - to enforce a written settlement of a grievance.

Decision of the Board of Arbitration

44.09 An arbitration board shall give a decision within 60 (sixty) calendar days after hearings on the matter submitted to arbitration are concluded. The decision of the Board of Arbitration shall be final and binding and enforceable on all Parties.

Expenses of the Arbitrator or Board of Arbitration

44.10 Both Parties agree to pay 1/2 (one-half) of the fees and expenses of the single arbitrator or the fees and expenses of the Parties respective appointees and 1/2 (one-half) of the fees and

expenses of the chair of the arbitration board.

Discharge Grievance

44.11 Where a teacher has received a termination notice, the teacher may file a grievance at Step 2 within 10 (ten) school days of written notice of termination.

Policy Grievance

44.12 The Union and the Board shall have the right to file a grievance based on a dispute arising out of the application, administration, interpretation or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement. A policy grievance shall be presented at Step 2 to the Union or the Director of Education.

Grievance Mediation

44.13 Nothing in this Article precludes the Parties from mutually agreeing to grievance mediation during any stage of the grievance procedure. The agreement shall be made in writing and stipulate the name of the person and the time line for grievance mediation to occur.

Attendance at Grievance Meeting

44.14 A teacher's attendance at a meeting at any stage of the grievance procedure including arbitration shall be without loss of pay or any other entitlement. As far as practicable, such meetings shall be held during the school day.

ARTICLE 45- STRIKE OR LOCKOUT

Strikes and Lockouts

45.01 The Board agrees that there shall be no lockout of teachers and the Union agrees that there shall be no strike during the term of this agreement. Lockout and strike shall be as defined in the Labour Relations Act.

Strike By Other Board Employees

45.02 No teacher shall be requested or required to perform the duties of any other teacher or employee of the Board who is engaged in a strike.

ARTICLE 46 - UNION REPRESENTATIVES

Union Officers

46.01 The Union shall notify the Board in writing of the names of persons elected to office in the Union and of persons authorized by the Union to represent teachers in a particular school or workplace on behalf of the Union (CBC Steward and ETFO school Representative).

Communications

46.02 The Board shall provide the Union with access to the Board's internal mail (including fax and electronic mail) services in order to conduct Union business. The Board shall, where possible instruct non-ETFO workers in each school's office to direct all Union faxes, phone, e-mail and paper messages to the appropriate ETFO member(s). The Board shall provide the CBC Steward and ETFO school Representative in each school or workplace with access to a telephone, a photocopier, a desk and a lockable filing cabinet in a private location.

Union Notices

46.03 The Board shall provide the CBC Steward and ETFO school Representative access to a bulletin board in each workplace for the posting of Union business and information for the Union membership.

<u>Meetings</u>

46.04 The Board shall provide teachers in every school or workplace with a suitable meeting room on request, free of charge, provided this does not interrupt the instructional program, and shall provide meeting space, where available, to the general membership of the Union free of charge on request, The Union will make every attempt to use the permit process where applicable.

Access to Members

46.05 The Union shall have access to its members for Union business at all schools and workplaces provided that this does not unreasonably interrupt the instructional program.

Access to information

46.06 The principal of every school or workplace shall provide the CBC Steward with all information pertaining to the administration of this Collective Agreement at the school or workplace upon request.

ARTICLE 47 - CORRESPONDENCE

47.01 All correspondence between the Parties arising out of this Collective Agreement shall pass to and from the Director of Education or designate, and from the President of the Union or designate.

ARTICLE 48 - Act/Renulation/Fiscal Changes

In the event the Government of Ontario or the Government of Canada passes or amends Statutes and/or Regulations, and in the opinion of either party such action has brought about changes in the terms and conditions of work from those originally described by the parties in the Collective Agreement, the parties shall meet within fifteen (15) days of the written request of either party for such meeting.

The parties shall attempt to agree on a method of modifying the Collective Agreement by mutual consent to restore the terms and conditions of work contracted when the agreement was made. This principle of restoration is to apply when not specifically contrary to the new Statutes or Regulations.

In the event that the parties fail to agree that a modification of terms and conditions of work has taken place, or if the parties cannot agree on the necessary amendments to restore the terms and conditions originally agreed upon, the matter shall be referred to an arbitrator according to the conditions in the Grievance Procedure.

ARTICLE 49 - Employment Insurance

49.1 - (EI) Commission Rebate

Provided the Board qualified for and receives the Employment Insurance Commission (EIC) rebate (preferred rate) the elementary teacher rebate is paid to the Local ETFO.

49.2 - ESTABLISHING THE NUMBER OF INSURABLE HOURS

The Hastings & Prince Edward District School Board and ETFO have considered Section 10 of the regulation set out in the Canada Gazette, Part II, Vol. 130, No. 14 pertaining to Section 55 of the Employment Insurance Act. Section 10 provides methods so that employees can complete the Records of Employment for workers not paid on an hourly basis.

The parties agree, under 10(2) of this regulation that for the sole and exclusive purpose of reporting the hours of insurable earnings required under the Employment Insurance Act, that full-time teachers shall be deemed to have worked nine (9) hours each week day they are employed. Par&-time teachers working a part of a day shall be deemed to have worked hours per day that are pro-rated accordingly.

ARTICLE 50 - Income Tax Verification of Personal Expenditures - T.D. 2200

Under existing Income Tax legislation, recognized resources purchased by teachers to enable them to provide programs for students for whom they are responsible, will be acknowledged by the Superintendent of Finance. It is the responsibility of teachers to obtain the appropriate T.D. 2200 form from their taxation office. Appropriate forms will be signed by the Superintendent of Finance.

ARTICLE 51 -TECHNOLOGICAL ENHANCEMENT PROGRAM for New Teachers

- 51.1 Effective September 1, a fund of \$40,000.00 will be established for Elementary ETFO members covered by this Collective Agreement to enhance their facility with manipulating electronic information systems that are related to computers and education. This program will be inoperative in the 1998 1999 school year.
- 51.2 Prior to September 1999, the Board will compile a list of current criteria required in a computer system that would be used in the home to address the educational, hardware and software needs of a teacher and family.
- 51.3 The Board will approach local retailers and invite quotations for a teacher computer system, and will sponsor one or more demonstration Computer Fairs where the Board will describe the computer needs for its teachers, and local retailers will have an opportunity to explain their system packages which meet the Board's criteria. One Computer Fair will be in Belleville and another will be in the Bancroft area if sufficient interest warrants. Other educational partners may be invited, if space permits,
- 51.4 The Board will attempt to provide a financial partner who will accept pre-approved credit applications at a reduced group rate for the purchase of computer related hardware and software that will be used by the ETFO member to practice and enhance their ability to manipulate electronic data efficiently.
- 51.5 ETFO members who purchase computer related hardware and software that meets or exceeds the specifications described by the Board's criteria, will be eligible for a subsidy equal to the taxes paid on the approved hardware and software package, up to \$300.00, subject to the following criteria in progression.

- 51.5.01 Teachers hired by the Board externally into the elementary panel effective that September who purchase a new computer system (hardware and software) that meets the Board's criteria.
- 51.5.02 Teachers hired by the Board externally into the elementary panel effective that September who purchase hardware or software to upgrade their existing computer system to meet the Board's criteria.
- 51.5.03 Teachers hired by the Board prior to that September into the elementary panel who have purchased a new computer system (hardware/software) that meets the Board's criteria.
- 51.5.04 Teachers hired by the Board prior to that September who have purchased hardware or software to upgrade their existing computer system to meet the Board's criteria.
- 51.5.05 ETFO teachers will apply in writing on a form to be jointly developed by the Board and ETFO. Applications should be made within a six week period after the Computer Fair(s) for the ETFO Technological Enhancement subsidy. Acceptable proof of expenditure and compliance with the Board's criteria will be required. Second time applicants and disputes concerning approvals will be referred to a Joint Board/ETFO Committee.
- Unused funds subsequent to final disbursements will be transferred to the Elementary Staff Development program (see Article 11.05). ETFO members may apply to this program for these unused funds in accordance with the above criteria, with first consideration being given to newly hired ETFO members who began work after the school year began in September.

ARTICLE 52 - DURATION AND RENEWAL

Remains in Effect Until Notice Given

52.01 This Collective Agreement becomes effective on September 1,1998 and shall remain in effect until August 31 , 2000 and from year to year thereafter unless notice is given by either Party pursuant to Section 59 of the Labour Relations Act.

52.02 Notwithstanding the period of notice stipulated in Section 59 of the Labour Relations Act, either Party may notify the other within the period of 180 days prior to the termination date of the Collective Agreement that it desires to negotiate the renewal, with or without modifications, of this Collective Agreement.

This agreement shall supersede all previous Collective Agreements. Except for error, inadvertence, or omissions it shall form the basis of computing all salaries and other conditions defined herein. Amendments (deletions or additions) to the clauses defined herein shall be made only by mutual consent of the Parties concerned during the life of the Agreement.

During the effective period either Party wishing to amend this Collective Agreement shall notify the other Party in writing. The other Party shall acknowledge such notice and meet to consider the proposed amendment within 14 days of written receipt.

ARTICLE 53 - SIGNATURES TO THE AGREEMENT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

Between:

The Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board and

Hastings and Prince Edward Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (ETFO)

The Parties agree that the terms of this Memorandum of Agreement constitute full and final settlement of all matters in dispute between them concerning the renewal of the September 1, 1998 to August 31, 2000 Collective Agreement.

The Collective Agreement between the two parties shall contain the terms and conditions for the 1998-2000 school years and the provisions of this Memorandum as outlined below.

The terms of this memorandum are grievable and arbitrable.

In the event that the Ministry of Education and Training agencies introduce legislation which affects the operation of this Collective Agreement, or in the event that it appears that the financial information used in negotiating this Collective Agreement changes, the parties agree to meet to determine mutually acceptable adjustments which would be implemented during the 1999-2000 year. The Parties agree to meet no later than April 30, 1999 to discuss this.

The Parties agree that the Benefits Review Committee will meet to examine methods of cost containment or reduction with respect to the Benefit Plan. Savings from any cost reduction will be applied to the grid, unless mutual agreement between the parties determines other allocations of the savings.

The Parties agree that this Collective Agreement satisfies all pay equity obligations arising out of the amalgamation of the two predecessor Boards of Education.

The Parties agree to establish a committee to study alternatives to the current Sick Leave Credit Plan and to explore the possibility of a group sick leave bank. These recommendations would need to be made and ratified prior to the 1999-2000 school year.

The Parties agree that current ETFO teachers who are currently employed by the Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board and who had an increment with-held by the Prince Edward County Board of Education as a result of the Provincial government's "Social Contract", and who are not yet at maximum, will be given credit for this experience allowance as of September, 1998, with the credit not to pierce the grid maximum.

The Parties agree that members who are currently enrolled in the attached Voluntary Early Leave Plans at a modified pay rate will have their total salary calculated in the following manner:

Total Salary - New Grid Salary + September 1998 Top-Up amount/pay

The Parties agree that in the event that the Board initiates an Advanced Pool Hiring process as described in the Collective Agreement, that no current ETFO member will lose their job.

The Board will provide appropriate receipts for Union release time costs at the request of the Union.

For the Board:

APPENDIX - I VOLUNTARY EARLY LEAVING PROGRAM (SEE ARTICLE 39)

HASTINGS AND PRINCE EDWARD DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

EARLY LEAVE PLAN

PURPOSE:

The intent of this program is to encourage voluntary leaving of employees of the Board. This program has been provided to facilitate employee's transition to retirement for a number of employees, provide financial assistance for those pursuing career opportunities, create opportunities for restructuring within the Board, and assist the Board in meeting its fiscal responsibilities. It is also intended to reduce the impact of staff reductions through layoff.

ELIGIBILITY:

First consideration for participation in this program will be given to all permanent employees who have actively worked during the 1998-7999 and/or the 1999-2000 school year and who have already indicated their intention or who will indicate their intention to retire on less than full pension and those employees who have indicated or will indicate a desire to <u>begin</u> a leave of absence. The Board, at its discretion, may consider applications from employees who have not been actively at work during either the 1998-1999 or the 1999-2000 school year.

SELECTION CRITERIA:

The approval of applications under any of the options will be at the sole discretion of the Board, based upon the following principles:

- avoidance of staff layoffs
- reduction in the number of employees
- ▶ ability to replace a departing employee with an existing junior employee of the Board

All applications will be considered fairly and equitably by a committee which will include the appropriate employee group representation and the Superintendent of Human Resources.

PROCEDURE FOR APPLYING:

- 1. Applications should be received on the attached form and sent to the Superintendent of Human Resources no later than 1999 April 01.
- 2. Each applicant shall be notified in writing of the Board's decision on or about 1999 May 28.
- 3. The employee must accept or reject the Board's offer by 1999 May 31.

Please direct inquiries to the Human Resources Department at the Education Centre at 966-1170 (Randy Brown, Ext. 2260; Sue Taylor, Ext. 2238; Karen Fox, Ext. 2242; Lana Sharpe, Ext. 2106) or, for information on your benefits, contact Chris Uens at Ext. 2268. Teachers may wish to contact their Federation Presidents.

VOLUNTARY EARLY LEAVING PROGRAM OPTION A - BRIDGING TO RETIREMENT (For All Employees)

For employees who have the ability to reach the 85/90 Factor after up to 5 years (FTE) of total leave time. This plan will be attractive to employees whose pension will be above 50%. This program will begin in September, 1998 and may again be offered in September, 1999.

FEATURES:

The Employee:

- reduces workload to 50% for up to 5 years of total time
- agrees to retire no later than when the 85190 Factor is reached

The Board:

- supplements salary to level of 85190 Factor pension (maximum 70%)
- reimburses the employee's pension plan contributions upon verification of buy back by employee
- pays benefits as per the Collective Agreement as though the employee was working at the 100% rate (employees are expected to continue to pay the portion they currently pay)

Example

if, at the point you would normally retire, you have 33 years service, your pension would equal 66% of your average salary. Therefore, if you work 50% under this plan, you earn 50% and the Board would top up your income by another 16% to equal your projected pension income.

Teacher Pension implications

* Under the Teachers Superannuation Act, there is a career total of 5 years maximum for purchase of T.P.P. during leaves of absence.

The following conditions apply only to teachers who are not in their last 5 years before retirement.

* For teachers who may wish to purchase credit service under the Teacher's Pension Plan, the Board shall withhold payment to the teacher a sum equal to seventy (70) days salary at the teacher's present annual rate. The sum withheld shall be paid in the form of salary commencing seventy (70) working days prior to the teacher's resignation or retirement. This requirement is not necessary for employees enrolled in OMERS.

Non-Teacher Implications

- * If employee works 50%, employee/Board make regular Pension Plan contributions
- * While employee is on 50% leave, employee contributes 100%. Upon verification of buy back, the Board reimburses employee
- * Seniority will be accrued at 100%.

CONDITIONS:

Employees who apply to the Bridging Retirement Plan will have to agree to the following:

A signed undertaking to retire when the 90 Factor is reached to include the understanding that, in order to rescind retirement, all monies paid under the program would have to be reimbursed.

VOLUNTARY EARLY LEAVING PLAN

OPTION B - EARLY EXIT PLAN (For All Employees)

For employees who may wish to leave prior to eligibility for a pension

FEATURES:

- open to employees with a minimum of ten years service with the Board
- incentive payment of 4% of annual salary for each year of service to a maximum of 50% of annual salary

Examples:

A. Service - 20 years Annual Salary - \$64,888.00 Incentive - 4% x 20 x \$64,888.00 = \$51,910.40

Actual = \$32,444.00 (maximum)

B. Service - 20 years
Annual Salary - \$32,000.00
Incentive - 4% x 20 x \$32,000.00 = \$25600.00
Actual = \$16,000.00 (maximum)

CONDITIONS:

Any employee accepted under the Early Exit Plan will be required to provide a waiver on conclusion of employment confirming that this fully concludes any and all obligations arising out of the employment relationships with the Board.

VOLUNTARY EARLY LEAVING PROGRAM

<u>OPTION C - LEAVE OF ABSENCE</u>

For all employees who may wish to take a Leave of Absence full or partial commencing September 1, 1999 or September 1, 2000 school years.

FEATURES:

- For any employee who has been in the employ of the Board for at least ten (10) continuous years and who provided active service to the Board for their full or part-time contract in the 1998-1999 or 1999-2000 school years.
- for employees, this plan may not be used in conjunction with a Sabbatical Leave or Leave with Salary Holdback.
- the Board will pay the same portion of benefits that have been established in the Collective Agreements.
- upon verification, the Board will reimburse members who have purchased the year of service for T.P.P. or O.M.E.R.S. This will be equivalent to the amount paid.
- under the Teachers' Superannuation Act, there is a five (5) year maximum on the purchase of T.P.P. during Leaves of Absence.
- C.U.P.E. members will accumulate seniority if they wish to participate in this plan.

CONDITIONS:

Employees who apply will have to agree to a signed undertaking to return to work at the approved date. In order to rescind the expected return to work, all monies paid out under this plan will be returned to the Board.

HASTINGS AND PRINCE EDWARD DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD VOLUNTARY EARLY LEAVING PROGRAM

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION

PROCEDURES FOR APPLICATIONS

- 1. Fill out the form and return it to the Human Resources Department, Attention: Randy Brown.
- 2. Applicants will be advised, in writing, by the Human Resources Department, of the Board's decision.
- 3. Completion of the application form <u>does not</u> constitute an offer from the Board, nor does it commit the applicant or the Board to accept any offer. If you have any questions, please contact the Human Resources Dept. for general inquiries or Chris Uens for benefits information.
- 4. Application forms should be received by H.R. Department, Tuesday, 1999 April 01 for the 1999-2000 school year or 2000 April 01 for the 2000-2001 school year. Late applications may invalidate consideration of application.

								
NAME								
POSITION.								
SCHOOL DEPARTMENT								
PLAN REQUESTED: (check one below)								
	Option A	Check One: y	e halfa r	half days				
	Retirement Bridging	Age:	Yrs. of Pensionable Service:	Pension Factor as of 1997 September 01:				
	Option B Early Exit Plan	Requested Leaving Date: (No later than 1999 September 01 for leave to be during the 1999-2000 school year, or 2000 September 01 for leave to be during the 2000-2001 school year)						
	Option C Leave of Absence		osence					
Other Pertinent Data:								
Signa	ture:	Date:						

RETURN TO HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT PRIOR TO 4:00 P.M., 1999 APRIL 01 for the 1999-2000 school year or 4:00 P.M., 2000 APRIL 01 for the 2000-2001 school year.

Note: Your Supervisor will be consulted prior to a final decision being made to accept your application.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1 - February 9, 1999

Between:

The Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board

and

Hastings and Prince Edward Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (ETFO)

- 1. The Parties agree that in the 1998 2000 collective agreement, Article 37.01 will be interpreted to provide half time release with pay for the local ETFO president and Grievance Officer, with the second full time equivalent release time costs based on Category A2 plus benefits, to be allocated to the <u>Local ETFO Day Release Fund</u> to be held by the Board "in trust" for ETFO release time expenses.
- 2. The Parties agree that for the 1998 1999 school year, the Board will invoice local ETFO for half time release for Vice Presidents Andy Hanson and David Patterson at the cost of A2 minimum plus benefits, with cost recovery from Provincial ETFO and reimbursement to the Board.
- 3. Following the ETFO annual meeting, ETFO will advise the board concerning these allocations for the 1999 2000 school year.

For the Board:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2 - February 9, 1999

Between:

The Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board

and

Hastings and Prince Edward Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (ETFO)

- The Parties agree that the <u>Local ETFO Day Release Fund</u>, as described in the <u>LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1</u> February 9, 1999, will be credited annually with the funds to be used by Local ETFO for Occasional Teacher release time costs for ETFO members.
- 2. Any funds remaining on March 30 of each year in the <u>Local ETFO Day Release</u> <u>Fund</u> will be transferred by the Board to the Elementary Staff Development fund for ETFO release time costs incurred by that fund.

For the Board:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #3 - February 11,1999

Between:

The Hastings and Prince Edward District School Board

and

Hastings and Prince Edward Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (ETFO)

- 1. The Parties agree that effective September 1, 1999, any teachers hired by the Board will be provided with Long Term Disability coverage within plan # 37029-508 which requires a 75 day waiting period.
- 2. In the event that ETFO determines to change the LTD plans for Elementary staff, the Board will be given sufficient notice to make appropriate changes in administrative processes.

For the Board: